National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale 2 du Canada

Services des thèses canadiennes

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

THÈSES CANADIENNES

# NOTICE

- CANADIAN THESES

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filled.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

### AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade (

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

# THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE



0-	3	1	5-	2	8	2	a	_ ۲	÷
-	_	-	5-	÷	U.	Æ.,	0	7-	1.

÷

1

- Palate mata atmuny - Ba ada Tananta - Ma Na	oriotatane o Manati	ANADIAN THESES	THESES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE	
	4 • • • • • • •	۰. ۲		- * .
· · · ·	.• .	•		ې •
n North Arrithmen Start DE Const	Duniel K./Be	von v		
$\sim c \sim (0, s) \sim c \sim c c + D d$	Crime and the The Influence	- <u>Environmental</u> of Street Netw	Opportunity Structure orks on the Patternin	e:_ <sup>`</sup> `
	of Property (	Offe <b>nces</b>	ş	,.
CERTIFICIAL PROF.	Simon Fraser	University	)	- · · · · ·
- METOR WHICH THESS WAS F RADE POUR LEOUEL CETTETH RATHIS DECREE CONFERRED A	NEE D'OBTENTION DE CE GRAM	(Criminology) 1984		
NOF SUPERVISOR VON DU D	RECITCA DE INÈSEPatri	cia L. Branting	ham	
۲. ۲.	The the bid fighted is the very of	· · ·		, ·
NADA to microfulm this the	sis and to lend or sell conter		par no presente, accordee o la Big 1. CANARA, do mucrofilmo, cotto	(L) () ( ( ( ) ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) (
the film			ender averagen de merorminer certe	-
- withor reserves other peb	Acation reputs, and neither the	E mais se coscivi	e les autos droits de publicatio	an a
sus nor extensive extracts f	rom demay be prior <b>d</b> of other	the confide long, ex.	traits de ceile-crine <b>doiven</b> t étre :	1977 - J
le reproduced without the au	thor" - whttp://permission.	aa autooment reprodi	nts sans "autorisation écrite de l	l'auten -
to Date to Jach	19/84 SIGNED SUGNE			
MANENT ADDRESS RESIDENCE	FINE C/O Criminolog	y Department, S	imon Fraser Universit	Y

 $\dot{B}_{urnaby}$ , B.C.  ${\scriptstyle ]}$  5A 1SC

CRIME AND THE ENVIRONMENTAL OPPORTUNITY STRUCTURE:

THE INFLUENCE OF STREET NETWORKS

ON THE PATTERNING OF PROPERTY OFFENCES

by

DANIEL J. K. BEAVON

# THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

M.A. (CRIMINOLOGY)

in the Department

of

### CRIMINOLOGY

DANIEL J. K. BEAVON 1984

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

 $(\mathbf{C})$ 

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

### APPROVAL

Name: DANIEL J. K. BEAVON Degree: M.A. (CRIMINOLOGY) Title of thesis: CRIME AND

CRIME AND THE ENVIRONMENTAL OPPORTUNITY STRUCTURE: The influence of Street Networks on the Patterning of Property Offences

Examining Committee:

John W. Ekstedt Chairperson, Associate Professor, Criminology

Patricía L. Brantingham Senior Supervisor Associate Professor, Criminology

Paul J. Brantingham Associate Professor, Criminology

Thomas K. Poiker Professor, Geography

John Lowman External Examiner, Instructor, Criminology

Date Approved: March 9, 1984

### PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the title of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Title of Thesis/Proxecon/Extended X80534

Crime and the Environmental Opportunity Structure:

The Influence of Street Networks on the Patterning of

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (i)$ 

Property Offences

Author:

(signature)

Daniel K. Beavon

(name)

August 8, 1983

(date)

### ABSTRACT

This thesis is an empirical study that examines the relationship between property crime and the environmental opportunity structure. The study specifically examines how the accessibility of street networks affects the property offender's search for targets. It is argued that the physical design of street networks influences how people move about within a city and consequently influences their familiarity with specific parts of it. If crimes are committed within the regular activity spaces of criminals, then the areas to which property offenders frequently travel, or with which they are most familiar, should have the highest amounts of property crime. If travel frequency decreases as road complexity increases, then the areas with the most complex street networks and the buildings on the least accessible streets should have the lowest amounts of property crime.

These premises were tested by means of an <u>ex post facto</u> research design that compared the relative amounts of property crime on different types of street segments in the two municipalities of Maple Ridge and Pitt Meadows, B.C. using 1979 crime data. Street segments were differentiated by their structural type (i.e., street layout, length, and curvilinearity), relative accessibility, and by the amount of traffic on them.

iii

independent variables and six different types of property crime. While attempting to control for the confounding influence of \* different opportunity variables, some strong predictive models were built that accounted for nearly seventy percent of the crime variance on each street segment. Most of the explanatory power of these models was attributed to three opportunity variables: the number of commercial establishments on each street segment, the improvement value of transient accommodations on each street segment, and the presence or absence of a high school on each street segment. The results of this study generally support the theoretical stance that property offenders engage in a spatially patterned search behavior in the selection of their targets. DEDICATION

3. - K

# To Patricia and Paul Brantingham,

founders of the "Environmental School of Criminology".

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The completion of any work is an accumulation of life experiences. Some of my fondest memories, in retrospect, happened while I was a graduate student. The source of these life experiences can be attributed to close social discourse with many faculty members, staff, and fellow students. Two persons who deserve to be acknowledged are Dr. Ezzat Fattah and Aileen Sams. Ezzat Fattah started the criminology program, at Simon Fraser University, and always left an aura of warmth and friendship amongst the student population. In a similar vein, Aileen Sams was the offical "den mother" of the graduate program, and every graduate student should be indebted for her loving care.

With regard to this thesis, I am indebted to Howard Sapers, a good friend who initially worked on this project to fulfill course requirements; he was also responsible for much of the original conceptualization. Another friend, John Winterdyk, demonstrated his editorial prowess by proof-reading and restructuring one of the first drafts; this was greatly needed and appreciated. Other students who deserve a special thanks, at least for distracting me from my work, include: Walter Lidster, Laurie Henderson, Tom McGuire, Clinton Langille, Janie Debo, and Wayne Neumann.

vi

The diligent work and assistance of two undergraduate students, Shamim Shivji and Naiel Kanno, in the collection of the data was greatly appreciated. I am also indebted to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police for their assistance and co-operation in the collection of the data. A special thanks goes to corporal Ron Elm, constable Brian Simpson, and Linda Noel of the Maple Ridge police detachment.

A special acknowledgement goes to the members of my thesis committee, who allowed me the freedom and flexibility to pursue my research interests in my own manner. Dr. Tom Poiker and Dr. Paul Brantingham always provided positive reinforcement and were always available for assistance. Most of all, I am eternally grateful to my senior supervisor, Dr. Patricia Brantingham, whose gentle guidance taught me to take the poison out of my pen. Without her intellectual support and friendship, I would never have developed an interest in this field of endeavor.

Last, but certainly not least, is a special acknowledgement to my wife, Leilla. Without her untiring understanding of my slothfulness, I would never have finished this thesis. The next dedication will be to her.

vii

#### QUOTATION

"What gets into you all? We study the problem and we've been studying it for damn well near a century, yes, but we get no further with our studies. You've got a good home here, good loving parents, you've got not too bad of a brain. Is it some devil that crawls inside you?"

Quote by P.R. Deltoid; the fictional probation officer in Anthony Burgess' book, A Clockwork Orange.

"But brothers, this biting of their toe-nails over what is the cause of badness is what turns me into a fine aughing malchick. They don't go into the cause of goodness, so why the other shop? If lewdies are good that's because they like it, and I wouldn't ever. interfere with their pleasures, and so of the other shop. And I was patronising, the other shop. More, badness is of the self, the one, the you or me on our oddy knockies, and that self is made by old Bog or God and is his great pride and radosty. But the not-self cannot have the bad, meaning they of the government and the judges and the schools cannot allow the bad because they cannot allow the self. And is not our modern history, my brothers, the story of brave malenky selves fighting these big machines? I am serious with you brothers, over this. But what I do I do because I like to do."

Quote by the mad bad Alex; anti-hero in Anthony Burgess' book, A Clockwork Orange.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPROVAL
ABSTRACT
DEDICATION
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
QUOTATION
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
A. LITERATURE REVIEW
I. INTRODUCTION
Crime Prevention Strategies
, Thesis
Organization of Thesis
II. CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN
The Etiological Bias of Traditional Criminology12
The "Newmanesque" Approach To CPTED
III. THE IDENTIFICATION OF CRIMINAL OPPORTUNITIES
Level of Aggregation
The Use of Official Police Statistics
Theory Guided Research
IV. CRIMINAL MOBILITY PATTERNS AND THE OPPORTUNITY STRUCTURE
Opportunity and Awareness
Street Design and Crime
B. THE STUDY
I. RESEARCH DESIGN

ix

ũ	Specific Universe and Time Frame
*** 4 ]	The Collection of the Environmental Data
	Description of the Environmental Data Set
	Collection of the Crime Data
٥ ,	Description of the Crime Data
II.	THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF THE DATA
	Theoretical Concerns of Using a Statistical Analysis .99
	Statistical Methods For Controlling Opportunities 102
<sup>1</sup>	Overview of the Multivariate Statistical Techniques 104
	The Analysis of Street Segment Types105
4e	Analysis of Street Flow
	Analysis of Street Accessibility
	Simultaneous Effects of Accessibility and Street Flow
	Multiple Regression Model
3	Analysis of Covariance
• 	Discussion of the Statistical Analysis
III.	CONCLUSIONS
	Methodological Considerations
<b>\</b>	General Considerations129
' LIV.	APPENDIX
BIBLIOGE	арну
,	

х

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLES	PAGE	Ξ
l	VARIABLES TAKEN FROM THE TAX ASSESSMENT DATA 82	2
* <b>2</b>	CROSS-TABULATION OF STREET TYPE BY ACCESSIBILITY 84	1
3	CROSS-TABULATION OF STREET FLOW BY ACCESSIBILITY 86	5
4	LAND USE DATA	7
5	LAND USE DATA AGGREGATED TO A STREET SEGMENT LEVEL 98	3
6	FREQUENCY OF PROPERTY CRIMES 93	<u>چ</u> }
7	FREQUENCY OF PROPERTY CRIMES ON STREET SEGMENTS 98	}
8	ONEWAY ANALYSES OF VARIANCE: TURNING MEASURE 110	)
9	PEARSON CORRELATIONS BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND CRIME	2
10	ANALYSIS OF COVARIANCE: ACCESSIBLITY VS. STREET FLOW 119	а. •
11	MULTIPLE CLASSIFICATION TABLE 120	).
TABLES	IN APPENDIX	•
A.1	Types of Items Stolen From Automobiles 131	•
A.2	Types of Items Stolen During Burglaries 132	?
A.3	Types of Items Stolen For Other Property Thefts 133	ł
A.4	Types of Damages That Occurred For Cases of Vandalism 134	
A.5	Oneway Analysis of Variance: Curved and Straight Segments 135	I
A.6	Oneway Analysis of Variance: Dead ends and Cul-de-sacs 136	,۶,

хi

A.7 Oneway Analysis of Variance: Street Layouts ...... 137 A.8 Oneway Analysis of Variance: Bicycle Theft ..... 139 A.9 A.10 A.11 Oneway Analysis of Variance: Theft From Auto ..... 142 Oneway Analysis of Variance: Property Theft ..... 144 A.12 A.13 Oneway Analysis of Variance: Wilful Damage ..... 146 A.14 Oneway Analysis of Variance: Break and Enter ..... 148 Oneway Analysis of Variance: Total Crime ..... 150 A.15 A.15 A.17 Two-way Analysis of Variance ..... 153 A.18 Multiple Classification Table: Two-way ANOVA ..... 154 A.19 Multiple Regression Model: Five Variables ...... 155 A.20 -Correlation Matrix: Five Variable Regression Model .. 157 A.21 A.22 List of Information Taken From Land Usage Maps ..... 160 A.23 LIST OF VARIABLES CONTAINED IN THE MASTER DATA SET .. 164

xii

# LIST OF FIGURES

		•
FIGURE		PAGE
1	FLOW CHART: Criminal's decision process	46
2	TYPOLOGY OF STREET SEGMENTS: Bevis and M	Nutter 61
3	BEVIS AND NUTTER STUDY: Their Findings .	
4	BEVIS AND NUTTER FINDINGS: A Re-analysis	s 65
5	ACCESSIB'ITY MEASURE: Operational Definit	tion
6	MAP OF MAPLE RIDGE AND PITT MEADOWS	79
7	GRAPH - Relationship between accessibili crime	lty and 113
8	FIGURE - Predicted Property Crime On Hyp Street Segments	oothetical

Ż

### A. LITERATURE REVIEW

ş

1

ł

### I. INTRODUCTION

Traditional attempts to combat crime generally focus on the offender (Jeffery, 1973). Efforts have been made over many decades to improve the effectiveness of many criminal justice system agencies. Law enforcement agencies have expanded their enforcement and investigative strategies, with the goal of deterring crime by increasing the offender's risk of apprehension. Courts have attempted to increase their efficiency in order to ensure treatment and more certain and equitable punishment of offenders. Correctional systems have been modified, time and time again, to improve their ability to rehabilitate offenders. Despite these efforts, it is clear that traditional methods for controlling crime are unable to keep up with the ever increasing crime rate.<sup>1</sup> Jeffery (1977:7), for example, has noted that:

Deterrence and punishment are failures; treatment and rehabilitation are failures; the criminal justice system is a failure from police to corrections...Nothing that we do today in the criminal justice system is a success.

<sup>1</sup>Reckless (1973:3) states that "a glance at the statistics of the seven most frequently and uniformly reported offenses...reveals that these crimes have increased much faster both in volume and in rate than has the population of the United States". Other authors (Brantinghams, 1984; Nettler, 1978) have also documented similar crime patterns for Canada, the United States, and Britain.

The apparent failure of the criminal justice system makes it clear that alternative approaches to reducing crime are needed.

### Crime Prevention Strategies

One alternative approach to reducing crime is crime prevention. Crime prevention strategies can be differentiated from traditional crime reducing methods in that they are proactive. That is, they attempt to formulate some form of action that will actually prevent a crime from occurring;<sup>2</sup> while the traditional methods react to crime after its occurrence.

A lot of confusion surrounds the concept of crime prevention as it seems to be the professed goal of every criminal justice agency. It seems that any official action taken by criminal justice agencies can be rationalized in terms of prevention rhetoric. Brantingham and Faust (1976) have developed a useful conceptual model of crime prevention that sorts out the wide array of contradictory prevention activities. This model defines three levels of prevention:

It should be noted that some future author will no doubt argue that it is methodologically impossible to prove that crime can be prevented. The argument can be made that something that has never taken place cannot be measured. Empey (1974:1095) goes so far as to suggest that crime prevention simply involves a particular trivial kind of utopian dreaming. None the less, it is not too unrealistic or problematic to accept the small inferential and inductive leap that a reduction in the official crime rate can, with adequate methodological controls, be attributed to some prevention strategy.

- 3

- primary prevention, directed at modification of criminogenic conditions in the physical and social environment at large;
- secondary prevention, directed at early identification and intervention in the lives of individuals or groups in criminogenic circumstances; and
- tertiary prevention, directed at prevention of recidivism.

Many traditional reponses to crime, such as deterrence and rehabilitation, claim to prevent crime but are clearly reactionary in nature. These methods are only "pseudo-crime prevention" techniques because they operate at a tertiary level; after the crime has already occurred.

Conceptual models of crime prevention, when applied to real crime problems by police and others, have evolved into a variety of overlapping programs. Operational crime prevention strategies, while not necessarily mutually exclusive, include some of the following areas:

 Environmental design - This method of crime prevention manipulates and changes the physical structure of the environment<sup>3</sup> in order to reduce potential criminal

<sup>3</sup>The term "environment" refers to the external conditions in which people live. One of the primary objectives of this thesis is to study the way in which the physical environment influences behaviour. Of course, it is also essential to consider the influence of behaviour upon environment. Porteous (1977:15) has noted that if the influence of behaviour upon environment is purposive, "it frequently involves some form of design or planning. And if the physical environment does influence our behavior to any extent, then those who control the shaping of that environment also effect our behavior therein.

opportunities (e.g., Angel, 1968; Luedtke et al., 1970; Newman, 1972; Pablant and Baxter, 1975; Gardiner, 1978; Clarke and Mayhew, 1980).

- 2. Therapeutic intervention This stategy relies upon the detection of and early intervention with persons having behavioural disorders. Persons attested to have behavioural disorders are directed into programs scientifically designed to change their behaviour, such as behaviour modification, psychosurgery, or chemotherapy (e.g., Mark and Irvin, 1970; Valenstein, 1973).
- 3. Community and police crime prevention One method of reducing crime may be through public education. By making the public more aware and self-conscious of potentially criminogenic situations, some forms of crime might bereduced (e.g., not leaving keys in automobiles, locking doors, not jogging alone, or the dangers of drinking alcoholic beverages and driving). When public concern with crime is raised to sufficiently high levels, citizens may hire private police or band together to form vigilante groups (e.g., the Guardian Angels). Since the police are the first line of defence against crime, they have the most to gain through the use of prevention stategies. Many of the public education programs that deal with crime prevention have been instigated by the police. Some prevention

programs, such as "Operation Identification" and "Neighbourhood Watch", were designed to deter burglary, to assist in the apprehension of offenders, and to assist in the recovery of stolen property. Other programs, such as "Neighbourhood Watch" or "Block Parents", were established to raise the public's general awareness of the crime problem and to promote neighbourliness.

4. Law Referm - Since crime is a legal creation, the legalization or decriminalization of certain deviant acts, or behaviours (e.g., homosexuality, prostitution, gambling, or narcotics), can eliminate and in effect prevent crime. The decriminalization of certain crimes does not mean that society is necessarily condoning the deviant acts, or behaviours, that once were criminal. There are many ways of dealing with social problems without making the criminal justice system a repository for all of society's ills. Law reform can be another effective form of crime prevention.

Each of these prevention strategies has its own philosophical origins, and each presents its own set of practical, ethical, and moral problems.<sup>4</sup> When each of these concepts of crime prevention is raised, two distinct questions <sup>4</sup>It is not the purpose of this thesis to expound these differences but to merely bring to the reader's attention that there are many aspects to crime prevention.

must be asked. First, can crime actually be reduced by one of these methods? Second, if so, do these crime prevention methods have troublesome side effects, or unintended consequences, which offset the social advantages of the reduction in crime that will be realized?

The development of these prevention stategies, particularly crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED)<sup>5</sup> over the past fifteen years has led to a renewed interest in ecologically orientated studies and the growth of environmental criminology.<sup>6</sup>

### Thesis

The general purpose of this thesis is to contribute to the empirical and theoretical growth of environmental criminology. The present study specifically examines how the accessibility of street networks afferts the offender's search process for targets. The study was conducted in the two municipalities of Maple Ridge and Pitt Meadows, British Columbia, and used 1979 crime data obtained from the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. The following three premises describe the basic nature of this study.

## <sup>b</sup>Pronounced as "sep-ted".

<sup>6</sup>Environmental and ecological criminology is a form of inquiry that examines the spatial distribution of crime for different areas, in an attempt to provide explanations for any differences in spatial patterning.

- Street networks can physically influence how people move about within a city. Street networks can also influence the way in which people become familiar with certain sections of a city.
- 2. Property crime generally occurs within an offender's regular activity space. Property crime should be highest near the areas that offenders are most familiar with or frequently travel through.
- 3. If travel frequency decreases as road complexity increases, then the areas with the most complex roads and the buildings on the least accessible streets should have the lowest amounts of property crime.

To test these premises an <u>ex post facto</u> research design was developed that compared the relative amount of property crime on different types of street segments. These street segments were differentiated by their structural type (i.e, street layout, curvilinearity, and length), relative ease of accessibility, and volume of traffic. The development of the research design was influenced by a similiar study conducted by Bevis and Nutter (1977) and by the general theoretical and methodological shortcomings of etiological criminological inquiries.

### Organization of Thesis

This chapter attempted to provide a brief introduction to the recent development of environmental criminology from the crime prevention movement. The general nature of the empirical study that was undertaken in this thesis was also briefly discussed. Following this introductory chapter is an in-depth examination of the growth of environmental criminology.

The second chapter begins by outlining the development of crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED) and the dispositional bias of etiological criminology. Then, it discusses the architectural approach to crime reduction, developed by Oscar Newman (1972), that has probably been the most dominant force in shaping the direction that CPTED has followed. The chapter concludes by examining why an environmental crime perspective took so long to develop; why it developed in the direction that it did.

The third chapter emphasizes why it is important to identify criminal opportunities before attempting to alter the environment in order to reduce crime. It is argued that the development of environmental and criminological data bases will allow criminal opportunities to be identified so that prevention stategies can be implemented.

Chapter four explores the limitations that the physical environment imposes upon people and how this affects theirstop mobility patterns while committing crimes. The literature

pertaining to the influence of street networks and crime is then explored.

The fifth chapter outlines the research design and methodology that was used. The collection and description of the data is also summarized.

Chapter six provides an analysis of the data. The technical aspects of the statistical analysis are contained in an Appendix.

Chapter seven, the conclusion, discusses some of the limitations of this study as well as the implications of the findings.

### II. CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN

Crime prevention through environmental design (CPTED) is the name applied to a cluster of architectural and planning techniques used to reduce crime through manipulations of the social/physical environment. This approach concentrates on reducing the number of criminal opportunities that exist in the environment. Opportunities are identified by studying criminal actions. In order for a criminal action to occur the following, three basic elements are necessary:1

- 1. motivation;
- 2. ability;
- 3. and an opportunity to commit a criminal act.

While all three elements are necessary for the commission of a criminal act, the latter two elements are relatively ignored in the criminological literature. The etiological methods of reducing crime have usually attempted to alter an offender's motivation to commit crimes.

<sup>1</sup>This is presupposing that there already exists a potential offender and a criminal law to define the reality of the action.

## The Etiological Bias of Traditional Criminology

Mainstream criminology has always been concerned with the causes of crime; however, a distinction must be made between two levels or types of inquiries that can be made when one is studying the etiology of crime: dispositional inquiries and spatial inquiries. The literature bears witness to the traditional form of inquiry which has resulted in a proliferation of biological,<sup>2</sup> psychological,<sup>3</sup> and sociological theories.<sup>4</sup> The main object of these theories is to show how some people are born with, or come to acquire, a "disposition" to behave in a consistently criminal manner. The other form of inquiry has focused on crime rates and patterns; for different areas, in an attempt to provide explanations for the different spatial patterning of crime.

Both of these types of etiological inquiries were first simultaneously addressed by what is called the Chicago School of criminology. During the 1930s, when empirical sociology was emerging in the United States, numerous studies of delinquency were conducted by members of the sociology department at the University of Chicago. The impact from these studies provides the cornerstone for sociological criminology and still remains a

<sup>2</sup>e.g., XYY syndrome, Lombrosian theory, etc. <sup>3</sup>e.g., Freudian theory, modelling, containment theory, etc. <sup>4</sup>e.g., conflict, anomie, social disorganization, differential

association, labeling, subcultural, etc.

vital stimulus for research. The "founders" of the Chicago School of criminology, Shaw and McKay (1969), in their ecologically oriented studies, noted that delinquency rates differed markedly among specific neighbourhoods; with the highest delinquency rates found near industrial areas and deteriorated community sections around the city center. They tried to explain this spatial patterning of delinquency by turning to a social-pschological level of analysis. Delinquency was explained in terms of social disorganization, which is groduced by "culture conflict".<sup>5</sup> Basically, Shaw and McKay examined the variation in spatial patterning of crime in order to develop a theory of criminal motivation. In this sense the spatial patterning of crime was secondary in terms of the importance placed upon criminal motivation. The Brantinghams (1981:27) have noted that:

Implicit in most such attempts at explanation is the assumption that variation in motivation leads directly to variation in spatial patterning. Under such an assumption the spatial pattern itself is merely derivative and of little scientific interest.

- And

It is this primary importance placed upon motivation that links almost all criminological theories, including those of a Marxist or radical orientation, to the early work of the Chicago

<sup>5</sup>The work of Shaw and McKay is summarized and evaluated by Finestone (1976); Morris (1957); Brantingham and Jeffery (1981).

School. The failure of criminological theories to produce strategies that can reduce crime may very well be a consequence of the little scientific interest expressed in the spatial patterning of crime. There is a growing trend in criminology which has started to question the utility of developing etiological based theories (Ohlin, 1970; Gibbon, 1971; Jeffery, 1977; Clarke, 1980). From a utilitarian perspective, the ultimate test of a criminological theory is whether it points to conditions, or events, that can be changed to reduce crime. The continuing high rate of crime makes it self-evident that these well established etiological theories are relatively unsuccessful as a rasis for action. The following criticisms point out some of the general weaknesses and assumptions of these theories:

- 1. Dispositional theories tend to be global in nature. Each theory tries to develop one explanation for all types of crime. Clarke (1980:137) has noted that these theories pay "little attention to the phenomenological differences between crimes of different kinds, which has meant that preventive measures have been insufficiently tailored to different kinds of offence and of offender."
- 2. Dispositional theories generally neglect individual differences. They cannot account for those persons who have criminal motivation, whether born with it or acquired, yet

remain non-delinquent. The theories also tend to reinforce the view that most crime is largely the work of a small number of criminally disposed individuals; which is contrary to the evidence of self-report studies (Clarke, 1980; Hood and Sparks, 1974).

3. The theories tend to be positivistic in nature in that they study the individual offender and not the offence. Jeffery (1973:464) has noted that:

the confusion of crime and criminals is commonplace in criminology. The criminologist seeks the answer to crime in the behaviour of the offender rather than in criminal law. Ferri stated that "crime must be studied in the offender." The question "why and how people commit crimes" is an important one; however, a theory of behaviour is not a theory of crime."

- 4. The theories generally regard criminal opportunities as being constant. Usually the theories are preoccupied with the social normative environment rather than the physical environment. This has meant that impulsive crimes, those that involve low levels of motivation or those that are spontaneous, cannot be explained very well; e.g., many crimes of passion are of this nature.
- 5. The theories often ignore the skills and abilities that are needed to successfully commit some types of crime.

the dispositional bias remains and renders criminological theory unproductive in terms of the preventive measures it generates. People are led to propose methods of preventive intervention precisely where it is the most difficult to achieve any effects, i.e. in relation to the psychological events or the social and economic conditions that are supposed to generate criminal dispositions.

Despite the heavy emphasis by dispositional theories, it may not be necessary to understand criminal motivation in order to reduce crime. There has recently been a renewed interest in the early work of the Chicago School with regards to the patterning of crime; except that this time, spatial patterning is not considered merely a derivative of motivation. It would seem logical that we may help in finding someone commits a crime when we know the "where", "when" and "how" of the act. By understanding the patterning of crime, the processes that account for an individual's involvement in criminality may be uncovered.

Mapping the contexts of human acts yields clues to human motives. The geographer and his brethren make the psychologist's and sociologist's task easier; they tell us what to look for so we can more sensibly speculate about patterns of human conduct and about the stimuli that occasion them. They tell us where sequences of motives start, and where consequences of actions end. They place humanity in context, and protect us from parochial flights of fancy.

(Toch, 1980:xii)

Taken in this context, the etiology of criminal actions can be considered secondary to the way in which the distribution of opportunities influences the actual commission of crimes. The over-all process of explaining motives may be more akin to Sykes and Matza's (1957) techniques of neutralization in that it is an ex post facto process. Motives can only be ascribed after-the-fact and may therefore have no use as a predictor of criminality. The issue as to "why" people commit crimes may simply be a "red-herring". Nonetheless, with an environmental perspective, criminal motivation is not simply discounted. Instead of rejection, motivation is assumed and the elements of ability and opportunity are emphasized. According to the Brantinghams (1981:18), the development of environmental criminology can be traced to the work of two men who worked independently of one another, but in the same university, during the late 1960s and early 1970s: C. Ray Jeffery<sup>6</sup> and Oscar Newman,<sup>7</sup>

<sup>7</sup>Oscar Newman, in his book, <u>Defensible Space: Crime Prevention</u> <u>Through Urban Design (1972)</u>, argued that the modification of <u>specific features of urban architecture could reduce crime</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>C. Ray Jefferv. in his book, <u>Crime Prevention through</u> <u>Environmental Design (1971)</u>, argued for the need to develop different crime prevention stategies. Beavon (1979) suggests that the impact of his work was vastly overlooked due to a shift in perspectives that Jeffery took between the first and second edition of his book. In the second edition of his book, Jeffery, stressed the role of bioenvironmental criminology, which is the equivalent of therapeutic intervention. The advocacy of this new perspective created such a stir amongst academics that the underlying theme of his work - crime prevention - was lost in the debate.

The success of CPTED strategies depends upon its ability to anticipate, recognize and appraise criminal opportunities and the initiation of some action to remove or reduce that opportunity (Frisbie, 1977). The ability to identify criminal opportunities is the central tenet that the validity of CPTED relies upon. If this stage in the process is by-passed or taken for granted then any action taken is operating on a haphazard basis. Unfortunately, the evolution of CPTED is analogous to the old cliche of "putting the cart before the horse". The preponderance of work in this field is of the hit-and-miss variety. Solutions and design strategies are often proposed without a thorough understanding of the environmental factors that may provide potential criminal opportunities. The work that best exemplifies this haphazard approach is that of Oscar Newman (1972,1980).

### The "Newmanesque" Approach To CPTED

Newman has probably been the most dominant force in shaping the direction that CPTED has followed. The theme of Newman's work is that architectural design can directly effect the amount of crime in residential areas. Therefore, Newman argues that an effective form of crime prevention would be the creation of architectural designs which would be least likely to promote criminal behaviour. Such architectural designs would reflect what Newman calls "defensible space". Newman (1972) outlines

four central aspects, that must be maximized, in order to capitalize on defensible space features.

- 1. Territoriality the capacity of the physical environment to create perceived zones of territorial influence.
- Surveillance the capacity of physical design to provide surveillance opportunities for residents and their agents.
- 3. Image the ability of physical design to project the perception of a housing project's uniqueness, isolation, and stigma.
- 4. Environment the influence of geographic juxtaposition with "safe zones" in adjacent areas.

According to Newman (1972) these four constituents of good design contribute to the formulation of defensible space "which inhibits crime by creating the physical expression of a social fabric that defends itself." This makes defensible space much more complex than simple target hardening; that is, creating "safe" environments using locks and chains. Defensible space is an environment in which the inhabitants have a sense of community and territoriality. The inhabitants of such an 'environment will therefore protect and maintain their living space from intruders. In addition, potential criminals will perceive this territorial influence and will, accordingly, be deterred from committing crime in this area.

In his book, <u>Defensible Space</u>, Newman (1972) analysed the occurrence of crime in publicly owned housing estates. It was

his contention that public housing projects lacking in defensible space features are particularly vulnerable to crime. To test his theory of crime prevention, Newman compared the amount of crime that occurred in public housing lacking defensible space features and public housing that met his criteria for good defensible space features. From these matched comparisons Newman concluded that the architectural design of buildings can influence the social interaction of people and can reduce the frequency of certain types of crime.

Whether or not Newman's crime prevention theory is successful remains a clouded issue at this time because his work lacks large-scale empirical verification.<sup>8</sup> Many of his concepts, such as territoriality and defensible space, are but unproven concepts waiting to be tested. Yet it may be a long wait because of the many methodological and theoretical shortcomings of Newman's work which may very well deter future empirical verification. Bottoms (1974:206) has stated that "Newman has, in short, drawn our attention to an important theme but by the relative crudity of his treatment of it has run a serious risk of debasing the importance of that theme." The following criticisms point out some of the weaknesses of Newman's work.

<sup>8</sup>In a recent Canadian study, Newlands (1983) tested several of Newman's concepts. Breaking and entering patterns were analysed in a small forty block area in Vancouver, British Columbia. The results of this study found some limited support for some of Newman's concepts. In another study, Mawby (1977) found no support for Newman's belief that high-rise apartments are more vulnerable to crime than conventional housing.
- Although Newman offered some empirical support for his findings, that support has been consistently regarded as grossly inadequate throughout the literature (i.e., Adams, 1973; Hillier, 1973; Kaplan, 1974; Bottoms, 1974; Mawby,
  1977; Mayhew, 1979b). It has been noted that:
  - a. his two main statistical methods, multivariate analysis and comparison of coupled projects, yield surprisingly little support for his conclusions;
  - b. there is no justification for the projects that he chose to examine, which means that they may have been selected because they best demonstrate his theory;
  - c. there are several errors in his calculations and tables;

5.

- d. Newman seems to have omitted vital data, which may have acted in an extraneous manner, when comparing the two projects (e.g., socio-economic differences);
- e. there are not enough details given about the design differences between projects which may affect territorial feelings;
- f. Newman uses the offence rates of the areas but does not discuss the offender rates, or the extent to which crime

is committed by locals as opposed to nonresidents;

- g. Newman is uncritical in his use of official criminal statistics and gives no hints that he is even aware of the well-known problems that are associated with their use.
- 2. Newman has treated the crime phenomenon too simplistically. He puts forth a global theory of residential crime without paying attention to crimes of different kinds that may require differently tailored prevention stategies. Mayhew (1979b:15) has further noted that "Newman has failed to consider that the four key elements might contain contradictions within themselves and might include factors which threaten as well as enhance security." For instance, to enhance surveillance one might provide more window space. While this design feature might deter muggings it could conceivably increase burglaries. Windows might act as an environmental cue that attracts burglars because they provide an easy entry route.
- 3. Newman treats the criminal as an outsider and the outsider as criminal. Crime is blamed on people who live outside of an area when much of the crime could be perpetrated by neighbours. Conklin (1975:33) believes that this "view of

the criminal as a mysterious, unknown predator may increase anxiety about crime, but it also makes continued residence in the community psychologically possible." Such notions can lead people to fear crime unjustifiably in safe communities or make people feel secure in areas with abnormally high crime rates.

- 4. Newman failed to consider that his defensible space measures may conflict with life-style preferences or solutions to social problems other than crime. Many people will not be willing to give up their privacy in order to increase surveillance. Neither may they be willing to walk through sterile parks with little or no aesthetic value.<sup>9</sup> Moreover, should society adopt security as a social goal when it cannot yet provide adequate housing for many people?
- 5. Newman failed to appreciate that architects have certain inherent biases. Porteous (1977:328) has raised the ethical problem of whether planners should plan for people; or with people; or allow the planning to be facilitated by people who live in an environment. People may not want to live in an environment built to defensible space specifications; should we force them to?

<sup>9</sup>A park designed with defensible space features would appear very spartan. It would contain very few trees or shrubs in order to optimize surveillance potential.

- 6. The design features advocated by defensible space theory may only change the outer surface of the environment. The environmental changes may be so minor that criminals do not perceive a difference in the environmental cues. It is quite possible that criminals may not perceive, let alone be deterred by, some of the symbolic barriers that Newman has suggested to demarcate territorial boundaries.
- 7. Newman's notion of creating a social fabric that defends itself may only work for certain groups of people. Different groups of people have different interaction patterns so it might not be feasible to expect every home owner to develop a sense of community or latent sense of territoriality. The best way to develop a cohesive neighbourhood might be to segregate people, which may not be a desirable social goal e.g., keeping the old from the young or by segregating ethnic groups.
- 8. Newman has also failed to discuss many of the practical problems associated with CPTED. Repetto (1976:284) has identified four of these problems:
  - a. the construction costs of remodelling or building various facilities;
  - b. the time delays associated with the construction phase will delay any reduction in crime for years;
  - c. there will likely be forced dislocation of

individuals and businesses or at least a significant alteration in their life patterns in order to accomplish the physical projects that will be required; and

d. there will also be sunk costs associated with the physical changes that were instituted.

Because of these practical problems, architectural design is not likely to be used when other alternative methods are available to reduce crime.

Newman has also made some rather questionable assumptions 9. about the nature of criminal acts with regard to the intention and motivation of criminals. He explicitly argues (1972:205) that much of the crime that occurred in the housing projects he studied was of a spontaneous variety (not premeditated). Newman takes this position in order to argue that CPTED will abate crime rather than displace it. If a lot of crime is a spontaneous reaction to an a opportunity then Newman suggests that the reduction of opportunities will naturally result in less crime. This is in sharp contrast to opponents of CPTED who argue that if opportunities are reduced or made unattractive, then criminals will seek them in other locations. While the issue of displacement or abatement has not yet been settled, it is naive of Newman to assume that most of the crime in his study was of the opportunistic variety.

- 10. Because of the prohibitive costs that many CPTED strategies might entail, it is quite likely that many of these measures will only be adopted by those members of our society who have discretionary income. If there is a displacement effect, then those areas without any CPTED measures are going to have an increase in crime. It might be argued that the poor suffer enough without being burdened with the upper classes' share of, crime.
- 11. Perhaps the greatest problem with Newman's work is its lack of construct validity. Many of Newman's key concepts cannot be easily operationalized, if at all. How does one quantify and measure territorality, surveillance potential, or the image of a building? These theoretical abstractions may have no direct relation with the real physical world.

Despite these major shortcomings, the Newmanesque approach has attracted many followers. Basically there are at least three reasons why this Newmanesque approach is so appealing.

First, the shortcomings of Newman's work are not particularly well-known. Reppetto (1976:280) has noted that Newman's "Defensible Space" (1972) received major critical attention in leading magazines and newspapers yet has failed to

be reviewed by the major criminological journals.<sup>10</sup> Mavhew (1979b) later gave a very comprehensive and critical review of Newman's work; however, this article was seven years too late in coming and has probably been over-looked by most practioners. Furthermore, it is doubtful whether practioners are concerned with the methodological and theoretical shortcomings of Newman's work; especially when his ideas make such good common sense. One uncritical reviewer stated that:

The tone of the book is practical, down-to-earth and incremental...All this sounds like good common sense except, that Newman is able to back up his message with diagrams and statistics.

(Sommer, 1974:97-8)

It is this common sense approach of Newman's writing that accounts for much of his popular appeal. Sellitz, Wrightsman and Cook (1976:3-7) identified three major problems with modes of thought that depend on common sense.

Reppetto (1976:282) goes so far as to suggest that the reason that criminologists have ignored Newman's work is due to resentment.

"Outsiders are never well received in any field and the fact that public attention afforded to ... Newman's ideas about crime prevention far exceeds any similar attention given to ideas of professional criminologists does not make for smooth interaction."

- 1. Common sense limits people to the familiar. Consequently one's ideas may be limited to a nonconscious ideology,
- 2. Common sense concern with the immediate often results in coexisting contradictory beliefs.
- 3. Common sense problems are self-limited since they formulate neither theoretical nor methodological problems. This is because it takes its assumptions and methods as given. Sometimes, of course, common sense solutions are correct, while social science methods lead in the wrong direction.

Another reason why Newman's work is so appealing comes from his production of how-to-do-it manuals on reducing crime. Mayhew (1979b:152) has noted that the fact "that Newman gave detailed instructions for achieving defensible space was an unusual bonus for practitioners normally given only vague suggestions as to how to deal with crime." This has resulted in many ardent supporters of Newman's ideas amongst the policing community. His ideas clearly mesh well with the "lock-and-bolt" mentality of many law enforcement agencies which have simply equated CPTED with target hardening (e.g., better locks for doors and windows, the installation of electronic alarms and surveillance aids, and better forms of lighting). This Newmanesque approach to CPTED has encouraged many police departments to scrutinize

architectural and planning designs in order to make recommendations and changes with regard to planning features that may elicit potential criminal opportunities. It is this influx of police interest and expertise that is the actual catalyst in stimulating the growth of CPTED.

Although Newman's work suffers from some severe methodological shortcomings he may have provided some important clues as to the nature of criminogenic settings. If one accepts the premise that the public housing projects that Newman identified as having poor defensible space features are conducive to crime, then the next step is to identify the specific design elements of these projects that account for these criminogenic conditions. From his theoretical outlook, Newman assumed that these criminogenic design features were high-rise apartments, double loaded corridors, poor lighting, etc. These features may be conducive to crime but the conceptual links were not tested by Newman; that is, no evidence was given that these specific physical features were associated with crime. Since this type of ex post facto research lacks controls there is the constant risk of improper interpretation. Kerlinger (1973:39) has noted that if one proceeds from the dependent variable to the independent variable, in ex post facto research, then it is easy to accept the first and most obvious interpretation of an established relation. There may be thousands of environmental cues that people perceive, either consciously or subconsciously, when analysing potential criminal

opportunities. Each one of these environmental cues must be empirically tested to verify it's criminogenic effect. It may be questionable as to whether Newman found any statistically significant relationships amongst his environmental variables but this does not undermine the importance of the theme.

While architectural design considerations for the reduction of crime might be welcome by the victims of crime there is the manifest danger that some action might be initiated before the potential criminal opportunities have been identified. While initiating some CPTED strategy could possibly reduce some types of crime, it could likewise conceivably increase the amount of other crimes. A body of knowledge that can identify environmental features that are criminogenic does not yet exist.<sup>11</sup>

It is quite conceivable that somebody (e.g., an architect, a city planner, or a police officer) could make design changes to the environment that are criminogenic as opposed to providing a milieu for defensible space. Those people who attempt to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>This statement does not imply that CPTED assumes environmental determinism. It merely suggests that certain environmental features may provide potential criminal opportunities. The environment does not cause crime but it does affect an offender's choice, whether or not it is made consciously. Many authors find it more useful to think of CPTED in terms of "environmental probabilism". The Brantinghams (1978:106) have noted that "environmental probabilism asserts that lawful relationships between the environment and behaviour exist; but that these relationships are probabilistic rather than certain. At any point in time many paths of action lay open to an individual, and predicting individual behaviour absolutely is impossible; but predicting behaviour within a degree of uncertainty is possible."

prevent crime through environmental design are operating on a haphazard basis until features of the environment can be indentified that are criminogenic. <u>Ex post facto</u> research must be done first, before experimental research, to establish statistical associations. It is this haphazard approach towards CPTED that is so dangerous. It leads to the latent hazard that practioners may lose their interest in this field prematurely. If research in this area starts to show that these haphazard strategies are not working then efforts in this field may be abandoned. So far the few studies that have examined Newman's propositions have not been too supportive (e.g., Mawby, 1977; Newlands, 1983) and there is already an air of pessimism.<sup>12</sup>

Most of this chapter has been highly skeptical and critical of the direction that CPTED has proceeded. If it has ended on a pessimistic note then it has served a functional purpose because the situation does not have to remain this way. The first step in reducing crime is to identify criminal opportunities. It has already been argued that this is the central tenet that the validity of CPTED rests upon. Perhaps it is now time to "put the horse before the cart".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Mayhew (1979b:157) summarized the little research done in this area and was led to conclude that "defensible space has considerable intuitive appeal, but it may have been oversold."

#### III. THE IDENTIFICATION OF CRIMINAL OPPORTUNITIES

In order to prevent crime through environmental design it is first necessary to identify the criminal opportunities that are to be changed. The concept of a criminal opportunity is complex. It is not object, but an object interpreted or perceived by a criminal (Rengert, 1981). A criminal opportunity has three elements which must be considered in an integrated fashion: objective site characteristics, spatial attractiveness, and target attractiveness. In a locational sense an inaccessible opportunity is no opportunity at all. Likewise, if an opportunity exhibits no target attractiveness to the potential offender then it cannot be considered as an opportunity.<sup>1</sup> The environment emits many signals, or cues, about its physical, spatial, cultural, legal, and psychological characteristics (Brantingham, 1978:3) which are used by the potential criminal to evaluate opportunities. Research is needed in order to establish the causal relationships between environmental opportunities and criminal behaviour.<sup>2</sup> It has already been

<sup>1</sup>Target attractiveness has two basic components: lucrativeness and vulnerability. The lucrativeness of a target is the perceived monetary or aesthetic value a criminal sees in an object. The vulnerability of a target is based upon the criminal's perception of how easily the act can be carried out.

<sup>2</sup>Again it must be emphasized that these causal relationships are in terms of environmental probabilism and not to be associated with environmental determinism.

32

حمح

pointed out that very little research has been done in this area due to the etiological bias of traditional criminologists. Another reason why very little research has been done in this area may be due to a lack of criminological data bases at low levels of aggregation.

### Level of Aggregation

Census data are a notable example of a data base that is often used by criminologists. Although not created for the study of crime, census data are used by social scientists because they are easily accessible and relatively cheap to obtain. Yet they are a highly questionable as a criminological data base. The types of questions that criminologists would often like to ask of census data cannot be asked unless one is willing to fall into the ecological fallacy.<sup>3</sup> Data at high levels of aggregation cannot answer many of the interesting questions about specific crime sites. The Brantinghams [1976:264] have noted that:

the mapping of variables into areal aggregates limits comparative analysis to variables which have been mapped into similar levels of aggregation and further limits the questions that can be validly asked of the data to those which are appropriate to such levels of aggregation.

<sup>3</sup>The ecological fallacy (Robinson, 1950) occurs when one illegitimately shifts from relations among the properties of groups to relations among the properties of individuals. An ecological correlation is not necessarily equal to its corresponding individual correlation.

In order to study the spatial and target attractiveness of criminal opportunities, an environmental data base at least at the street address level of detail is needed. Data are needed at this low level of aggregation to determine what environmental cues contribute to criminogenic conditions. The development of an environmental opportunity data base is a formidable task. Criminologists have never concerned themselves with this problem because they have not yet reached the stage where they can easily produce a complementary data base of criminal events at the address level.

It has only been with the advent of the technological evolution of computers that some police departments are now beginning to record crime at a machine readable address level. Police have usually recorded the location of crimes, victims, and offenders but never in a systematic fashion that could " easily be used for research purposes. In order to obtain address information about crimes it is necessary for criminologists to search police files manually in order to extract the needed information.

Contemporary urban police forces are only now beginning to realize the need for improved information handling. Experimental projects in Akron (Pyle, 1974) and Dallas (Makres, 1980) have demonstrated the advantages to police forces in developing in-house data analysis and display systems.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup>The advantages that these computerized police records offer are in terms of management purposes (e.g., interdepartment communications, reduction in storage space) and for crime analysis (Sanders, 1980:278). Address based crime files also

The most important element of these computerized systems is that the address of crime occurrences is treated as a variable. This allows the police to respond to areas that are temporarily experiencing high rates of crime. This is not possible using manual records because of the time delay in recording crime (Makres, 1980).

Criminologists also benefit when the police produce data at an address level since this information can be used to analyse the opportunity stucture of the environment. This is something that has only been available to criminologists at a great cost. The expense of obtaining address level data has meant that very few criminological studies have examined the opportunity structure of the environment. As a result, criminological endeavor is mainly confined to easily available aggregated data, such as census data, which only allows criminologists to speculate about the etiology of crimes. From this perspective, the dispositional bias of traditional criminologists can be viewed as an inherent problem tied to the limitations of their data. As criminologists refine their data, they will also refine their theories. Conversely, as criminologists refine their theories, they will also refine their data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>(cont'd) have the potential to provide invaluable information to the police officer on the beat. Before an officer responds to a call, a case history of crime occurrences at the residence or neighbourhood can be obtained before he enters an unknown situation.

# The Use of Official Police Statistics

One of the most serious drawbacks in the study of criminology is the enormous cost and time it takes to obtain crime data. Criminologists often rely upon other sources to obtain their data, such as agencies of the criminal justice system. Of course, these agencies gather data to meet their needs as opposed to those of the researchers. For example, police reports are recorded in order to investigate crimes, to document evidence for court, and to report crime totals; purposes which sometimes elude the critics of official statistics. There is often no fault in the way these agencies collect their data but only in the method that researchers use it; usually for purposes for which it was never originally intended.

The use of official crime statisitics has occupied several decades of intense criminological debate. The central issue inthis debate revolves around the "dark figure", the amount of crime that goes undetected, unreported, or unrecorded. Hood and Sparks (1974) have noted several common reasons why crimes may go unrecorded:

1. The criminal behaviour may not be perceived as a crime by the victim or other witnesses.

2. The victim may know a crime has been committed but not

report it because he may have sympathy with the offender or may regard the harm done as too trivial in relation to the consequences; he may dislike or not trust the police and the courts; he may live in a community where it is deviant to report a crime; he may fear reprisals; he may fear that his own deviant activity will be exposed; or he may feel that nothing would be achieved by calling the police.

3. There may be a high social toleration of crime.

4. Shrinkage in the number of recorded crimes often occurs because police either did not come when called or failed to regard the incident as a crime and consequently did not record it.

The imperfections of official statistics have led criminologists to devise other ways of counting crime (e.g., self-report studies and victimization surveys) but these methods are not without their own shortcomings. Nettler (1974:96) has noted that "an evaluation of these unofficial ways of counting crime does not fulfill the promise that they would provide a better enumeration of offensive activity". None the less, the extremely high cost of gathering unofficial statistics rules out this type of data for environmental studies at low levels of aggregation.

The use of official police data can invalidate spatial analysis in two ways: differential attention to different neighbourhoods by the criminal justice system (i.e., pro-active policing) or differences in the willingness of residents of different parts of a city to report crime incidences (Brantinghams, 1981). In one of the few studies that has examined the spatial bias of police data, Mawby (1981) found no indication that police data is spatially skewed.

A study by Schneider (1976) found changes in the reporting behavior of residents after the introduction of a neighbourhood-based property identification program. Despite the potential criticisms, the use of police data is not necessarily problematic for some types of spatial analysis. Police only use pro-active policies for specific types of crimes. Police usually only respond to property crimes in a reactive manner, which rules out the possibility of spatial bias on the part of police.

For the purposes of this study, if one assumes that the reporting rate of crimes is constant across the different types of street segments, then the use of police statistics should

cause no concern.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>5</sup>If there was any difference in the reporting rate of crime, one would expect to find a higher reporting rate for victims of commercial establishments. Since commercial establishments would be found on more highly accessible street segments, more crime would be reported on these streets, than on less accessible streets. Consequently, the differential reporting rate could be acting as a confounding variable. To eliminate this possible explanation, a spatial analysis of property crime must be performed separately for commercial and residential crimes. This was done in the current study and no differences in the spatial patterns were observed, of residential and commercial crime, when examining the accessibility of streets. This was taken as

While it is rather easy to suggest that spatial bias may exist in the way people report crimes, it is much more difficult to devise a plausible argument to explain this phenomenon. To make such an argument one would have to believe that certain types of people use street accessibility as a major criterion in their decision to purchase homes. Such an argument is highly implausible and probably merits no serious attention.

Theory Guided Research

The preponderance of criminological research is of an  $\underline{ex}$ post facto nature. According to Kerlinger (1973:379):

Ex post facto research is systematic empirical inquiry in which the scientist does not have direct control of independent variables because their manifestations have already occurred or because they are inherently not manipulable. Inference about relations among variables are made, without direct intervention, from concomitant variation of independent and dependent variables.

Ex post facto research suffers from several severe limitations. Kerlinger (1973:390) has noted that this type of research design has three major weaknesses. r

1. The inability to manipulate independent variables.

 $^{5}(\text{cont'd})$  confirmation that there was no spatial bias in the police data that were used.

2. The lack of power to randomize.

3. The risk of improper interpretation.

The inability to manipulate the independent variable and the lack of power to randomize, stems from the problem that it is inherently impossible to modify the physical environment once an event has already occurred. Any conclusions drawn from an  $\underline{ex}$ <u>post facto</u> research design will always be weak because the results could be due to chance relations or to any number of possible extraneous variables that cannot be experimentally controlled. This inability to control experimentally potential mitigating variables can lead to the acceptance of the first and most obvious interpretation of any chance results.

Since most criminological research is of an <u>ex post facto</u> nature, it is very important to be guided by theory. Without a theory to guide the researcher, it is difficult to find or justify a starting point. For example, in comparing burglarized to non-burglarized houses for differences, the number of variables that could be chosen from the thousands of environmental cues present are virtually limitless. By working without a theory, it is easy to accept the first and most obvious interpretation of an established relation. The more relations one examines, the greater the probability that some chance correlations will be found. Of course, even when guided by a theory, the results are tentatively weak because they may still capitalize on chance relations. Merton (1949:91) noted

that because of the flexibility of post factum explanations that whatever the observations, new interpretations can be found to "fit the facts". The retort to this line of logic is that at least when guided by a hypothesis, the researcher has the satisfaction of having the "facts fit the theory". When the facts to not fit the theory then knowledge is advanced through falsification (Popper, 1968). While it is widely acknowledged that the principle of falsification has severe limitations, it does give support to the scientific venture of doing theory guided research (Chalmers, 1976). Another advantage of conducting theory guided ex post facto research is that it eliminates a lot of implausible variables and makes the research job more manageable. With an environmental and crime data base at a street address level, the probabalistic relationships between environmental opportunities and criminal behavior can be more fully explored.

Hirschi and Selvin (1973:38) have identified three criteria of causality which are necessary to establish causal relationships.

- 1. Association A and B are statistically associated.
- 2. Causal order A is causally prior to B.
- 3. Lack of spuriousness The association between A and B does not disappear when the effects of other variables causally prior to both of the original variables are removed.

The first step in identifying criminal opportunities is to show that a relationship, or a statistical association, exists between environmental opportunities and criminal behaviour. If criminal behaviour occurs in a completely random fashion, then no spatial relationships between crime and opportunities should exist. This seems unlikely as the spatial patterning of crime has long been observed. The second step, causal order, means that the the environmental opportunity must attract the criminal to the spatial location and target. It is not necessary to establish causal order for property crimes because it is nonsensical to consider the criminal as being causally prior to the opportunity; that is, the criminal does not attract the opportunity.<sup>6</sup> Whether or not criminals are aware that they are being attracted to an opportunity, makes no difference to the causal order as the process can be either conscious or subconscious. The third criterion of causality is to show that the relationship between environmental opportunities and criminal behaviour is not spurious. There is always the possibility that an or extraneous variable may account for the association. While it is methodologically impossible to test for every extraneous variable, it does strengthen one's argument to consider alternative explanations and to eliminate the more

<sup>o</sup>For some types of violent crime (e.g., murder, rape, or assault) causal order may have some significance; that is, the criminal may attract the victim.

plausible ones.<sup>7</sup>

In order to document the relationship between environmental opportunites and criminal behaviour there are two possible research strategies. The first is to interview criminals as to the environmental cues that attract them to targets. Research of this kind will no doubt produce many suprising results as criminals' perceptions of targets may differ drastically to what police and researchers think. It is quite possible that perceptions of what constitutes an attractive target are quite varied even amongst criminals for the same types of crime. This kind of research may question the utility of having police provide their expertise to modify the physical environment to eliminate what they perceive to be criminogenic opportunities. Of course, the converse may also be found.

The problem with this type of research is that usually the only criminals available to be interviewed are those who have already been caught and they may not be representative of the criminal population at large. Rengert has suggested that this issue may be a "red-herring" as many offenders are apprehended on the basis of misfortune rather than on the basis of poor criminal skills.<sup>9</sup> The other difficulty with this research <sup>7</sup>Blalock (1961:6) points out that causal laws cannot be demonstrated empirically, but that is is helpful for us to think in causal terms.

<sup>9</sup>This is based on Rengert's current research of interviewing professional burglars as to their choice of targets in relationship to their home location. The results of this study have not yet been published but were discussed in a seminar presented at Simon Fraser University.

technique is that criminals may subconsciously respond to environmental cues. If this is the case, then these subconscious environmental cues will not be uncovered in the interview process as the criminal will not be aware of them.

Another research stategy that may uncover relations between environmental opportunities and criminal behaviour is by spatial mapping. The relationships between the home location of property offenders and their targets can be studied. One approach could involve comparisons between those targets that a criminal chose and those that he did not choose. What factors led a burglar to break into one house and leave the neighbours' homes untouched? The differences in the architecture, occupancy, or spatial location of these homes may identify environmental cues that may attract criminals, whether or not it is a subconscious process.<sup>9</sup> This type of research calls for the study of the relationship between the offender and the target or victim. As previously discussed, this type of research can only now be realized with the advent of computerized police files that can provide the spatial coordinates of these relationships.

<sup>9</sup>Of course this type of research is associational since causality can never be proven.

IV. CRIMINAL MOBILITY PATTERNS AND THE OPPORTUNITY STRUCTURE

### **Opportunity and Awareness**

Much of the current research in environmental criminology has only considered the objective site characteristics of opportunities. While this is important, it still does not explain the cognitive process by which criminals evaluate the suitability of targets or become aware of potential targets. This decision process is shown in Figure 1. This figure pictorially presents the view that etiological criminologists are primarily concerned with the motivation of a criminal while environmental criminologists concern themselves with the entire search process of evaluating the suitability of a target.<sup>1</sup> Whether or not a criminal is highly motivated, some form of a search process must take place in order for a crime to be committed. As depicted in Figure 1 this search process may be affected by the objective site characteristics and by the criminal's perception of

<sup>1</sup>The theoretical underpinnings of this model can be found in the urban research literature pertaining to "human activity systems". This literature examines "activity patterns" of people in terms of the motivation, choice, and action sequence. Chapin (1974) defines an "activity pattern" as a tendency for people in a given population to behave in similar ways.

### Figure #1

Flow Chart: Criminal's Decision Process

## Traditional Methods

Motivation



what is a good or bad opportunity.<sup>2</sup> The search may also be influenced by the limitations imposed by the physical environment and one's knowledge of the environment. The knowledge, or awareness space, that criminals have of the environment and its potential opportunities, should largely depend upon their routine activity patterns. Those areas that criminals frequent probably form the dominant portion of their awareness spaces. Property crimes may occur in the same areas that criminals conduct their routine activity patterns.

From the literature it is clear that the opportunity structure of the environment influences criminal activity patterns (Boggs, 1965; Rengert, 1980, 1981). This influence stems from both the physical limitations that the environment imposes upon the individual and the cognitive representation (awareness space) that the individual has of the environment. It is the polarity of these two forces that has made it difficult to measure a target's probability of being victimized. Two measures are needed: an objective measure of the relative risk and some measure that will account for the subjective component or awareness that criminals have of different opportunities. It was the seminal work of Boggs (1965) that first presented an

<sup>2</sup>Cohen and Felson (1979) argue that criminal acts require a convergence in space and time of likely offenders, suitable targets, and the absence of capable guardians against crime. They found that the dispersion of activities away from households and families increases the opportunity for crime and thus generates higher crime rates. The absence of capable guardians against crime is probably one variable that influences a criminal's perception of what is a good opportunity.

objective measure of the relative risk of opportunities;<sup>3</sup> but how does one measure or quantify the relative risk due to a criminal's awareness space? It is not sufficient to think of opportunities only in terms of objective realities. For instance, two houses would normally be counted as each representing an equal opportunity to a burglar. If one of these two houses was not in the awareness space of a burglar, then they could not really be considered as representing equal opportunities, as the unknown one would never be exploited. In attempting to define the relative risk of an opportunity, Rengert (1980:201) was led to conclude that:

the relative magnitude of an opportunity is proportional to its relative degree of accessibility which will partially determine its probability of being exploited.

The street networks of the physical environment, to a large extent, influence the mobility patterns of people. The paths by which criminals regularly travel most likely influence their awareness of potential targets. The next section explores how street patterns, can influence the movement patterns of criminals and how these patterns can affect the decision process for

<sup>3</sup>In her study, Boggs (1965) demonstrated that simple resident population denominators, in crime rate ratios, can produce discorted pictures of crime distributions. She noted that crime rates should form probability statements and should therefore be based on the risk or target group appropriate for each specific crime category.

target selection.

#### Street Design and Crime

The idea that street design could influence crime was recently expounded by Newman (1976:60). It was his contention that the existing fabric of city streets can be subdivided in order to create territorially defined blocks. As the territorial subdivision of streets in an area increases, the residents are more likely to increase surveillance because they can better recognize who does not belong in the area. With an increase in territorality, surveillance also increases; both of which contribute to a reduction in crime. Empirical support for this contention was provided by Newman (1980) in his most recent book, <u>Community of Interest</u>. This study examined the privatization of streets in St. Louis.

According to Newman, in order to arrest the social decay of their neighbourhoods, a few residents of St. Louis banded together to buy back their streets from the city. The citizens of these private streets legally own and maintain their streets which used to be the responsibility of the city. The distinguishing features of these private streets, as outlined by Newman (1980:126), are:

 each street is blocked off at one end to prevent through traffic, and

 ownership of each street right-of-way by the residents is guaranteed by a deed of restriction attached to all property.

The closing off of streets reduces pedestrian and vehicular traffic and apparently creates a psychological effect that encourages residents to think of their own street as their neighbourhood or "home turf".

\*\* In order to test whether these private streets had lower crime rates than public streets, Newman examined three matched comparisons. Newman concluded that even though each street showed some idiosyncrasies in the criminal behaviour, the private streets had less crime in almost every crime category. The only exception to this trend was for the crime of burglary.<sup>4</sup> Newman (1980:142) offered two explanations as to why the crime of burglary appears to be an anomaly.

First, physical closure and institutionalized ownership may make a stranger more obvious and residents more watchful, but it may do little to clandestine entry into a structure from the rear alleys and yards, which, although privately owned, are often only minimally fenced. Second, the very status of the private streets (composed of middle-class single family homes) compared with adjacent public streets (composed of lower-income multifamily homes) may serve to label the private streets as lucrative targets for burglary.

<sup>4</sup>The other crimes examined were assault, purse snatching, vandalism, theft from auto, and theft of auto accessories.

While this latest study by Newman gives further support for his defensible space arguments, the results must be tempered because of their <u>ex post facto</u> nature. Alternative explanations can be devised to account for his empirical findings.

For example, one of the most serious problems with Newman's latest study was the way in which the crime rates were constructed. The numerator consisted of the number of officially recorded crimes on each block (broken down into the six types of crime) while the denominator was based on the population of residents residing on each block. The population was derived from resident interview responses<sup>5</sup> and the U.S. Bureau of the Census (1970). It is this population figure, of the private and public streets, that may be acting as a statistically confounding variable. One of the requirements of living on a private street is the maintenance of single family residential occupancy. This is not the case for public streets as Newman noted that these streets were deteriorating with many conversions of single family dwellings to multi-family occupancy.

From a visual perspective, the private streets appear to the potential buyer to be stable and well-maintained residential environments. There is none of the physical

<sup>b</sup>It was never made clear whether these resident interview responses contributed to the population counts of street blocks. Such data could, if systematically carried out, adjust imperfections or inaccuracies in the census data. However, it would appear that interviews were conducted, mainly with residents of private streets, in order to get their impressions and perceptions of the quality of life in their neighbourhoods.

deterioration prevalent on the surrounding public streets, nor are there any houses which give the unmistakeable sign of having been converted to multifamily occupancy...Recent conversions have made the street a mixture of multifamily and single-family dwellings. The street is occupied by a mixture of middle and lower-income blacks.

(Newman, 1980:131&139)

The net effect of these multi-family conversions is that it may dramatically boost the population of the public streets, which would not be reflected in the census figures.<sup>6</sup> This may result in the denominator of the rate figure for public streets being much too low. Such an under-count could account for the differing crime rates on these two types of streets. Simply because it was difficult to find the current population for each street is no reason to settle for inaccurate and outdated information. Newman's analysis would be more illuminating if he had considered an alternate denominator in the calculation of his rates. Rather than using the conventional population denominator he could have selected ones that would have adjusted for environmental risk or opportunity (e.g., the number of houses or automobiles on each street segment). Many of the crimes that Newman examined are meaningless when expressed in 🥢 terms of the total population. For instance, burglaries could <sup>6</sup>The reason why this population increase will not be reflected in the census figures is that the census was taken over a decade ago, while many of the conversions are recent. Furthermore, there is current debate about the accuracy of the census when it comes to counting illegal suites and their occupants as the

landlords are unlikely to report them due to fears of income tax invasion. Only recently, cities in the U.S. were complaining that the recent census (1980) missed counting millions of illegal <u>aliens</u> which meant missed Federal Tax support.

have been examined per units at risk rather using population as the denominator. Harries (1981:148) has noted that:

population may be conceptually appropriate as a denominator for some offences, but the uncritical application of population as a denominator for all crime categories may yield patterns that are at best misleading and at worst bizarre.

Another serious problem in the way that Newman constructed his crime rates deals with the numerator. There could be a difference in the reporting behaviour between the residents of the two different types of streets. Although both receive patrolling by city police, it is quite possible that people who live on private streets report less crime than people who live on public streets. Since residents of private streets have divorced themselves from the city, in terms of buying back their own streets, they may have become a community unto themselves. The residents of these private streets may have formed close neighbourhood ties with each other to the extent of becoming social elitists. They may feel no need for police intervetion as they are often ineffective in solving property crimes. The, territorial feelings they developed about protecting their own community may have displaced the need for bringing in an "outside" police force. Consequently, if the police are not called, then no file can be opened. This explanation offers a different view for the anomaly that Newman found for the

burglary rates.

Burglary is one of the only serious crimes that people protect themselves against and this is done through buying houshold insurance. In order to make an insurance claim for burglary, the victim must file a police report of the incident; this is to eliminate fraud and to substantiate the claim. This may account for the high rate of burglaries reported by private street residents because they may be more inclined to purchase insurance than residents of public streets because they are higher in the socio-economic bracket. The other crimes that Newman examined (assault, purse snatching, vandalism, theft from auto, and theft of auto accessories) are either insurable or are often considered too petty to bother making a claim, especially when there is a deductible that must be paid. It would be more helpful if Newman had examined some other crime such as car theft, which has a high reporting rate because insurance is mandatory. The overall effect of a low reporting rate of crime by the residents of private streets would be the illusion of less crime.

The History of Street Design and Crime

Newman was not the first to express the idea that street design could influence crime. Many authors noticed distinct relationships between these variables while others have hinted at possible connections. Tobias (1972) and Dyos (1957) noted how

the rookeries (criminal areas) of early Victorian London were displaced through the placement of new streets. For example, in order to reduce crime, Victoria Street was deliberately run through the infamous Westminster rookery. The purpose of the placement of these major streets was to break up the rookeries and displace their criminal occupants.

The objects of street improvement in early Victorian London were seldom single, for street improvement during these years provided almost the only effective way of rectifying on a grand scale some of the worst features of urban growth. The disjointed maze of streets in central London was not only inefficient for transport and frustrating for the police but prodigal of human life. Thus, street improvements became not merely a method of increasing the circulation of traffic but a blunt, though seemingly effective, instrument of slum clearance.

(Dyos, 1957:264)

The early positivist, Enrico Ferri, also thought that crime could be dispersed through the introduction of major transportation routes.

And robbery and brigandage? They withstand the death penalty, and extraordinary raids by soldiers...Wherever the woods are not traversed by railroads or tramways, brigandage carries on its criminal trade. But whenever railroads and tramway visit, brigandage is a form of crime which disappears. You may insist on death penalties and imprisonment, but assault and robbery will continue, because it is connected with geographic conditions.

(Ferri, 1958:98)

Ferri was well aware of the vast importance that the concept of prevention holds in the effort to reduce crime. Many aspects of environmental design can be traced back to this early pioneer in criminology.

High roads, railways, and tramways disperse predatroy bands in rural districts, just as wide streets and large and airy dwellings, with public lighting and the destruction of slums prevents robbery with violence, concealment of stolen goods, and indecent assaults. (Ferri, 1896:123)

Yet the advent of better transportation networks did not always coincide with reduced amounts of crime. For instance, Glyde (1856) found that the highest rates of crime for medium-sized towns, in Sulfolk during the mid-eighteenth century, occurred along the major highways. This finding seems to be a common phenomenon even in today's society. Several authors have found that there are higher crime rates near major arteries (Angel, 1968; Luedtke et al., 1970; Wilcox, 1973; Duffala, 1976). The Brantinghams (1981:50) have suggested that the reason why there tends to be a concentration of criminal events close to major transportation arteries is because:

 major transportation arteries are likely to become part of the awareness space of many urban residents, including potential criminals, and
2. major arteries offer easy access and escape to criminals.

Relations between streets and crime were also observed by members of the Chicago School. Burgess (1916:726) was led to conclude that one of the most important factors to the understanding of delinquency was the proximity of youths to business streets. This relationship was further expounded by Burgess (1925:152) in his discussion of the triangular relationships between the homes of offenders and the location of delinquent events. Unfortunately this observation, of the spatial patterning between a criminal's residence and the environmental opportunities, was buried under the general rubric of social disorganization. Social disorganization was used to explain the spatial patterns that were uncovered.

Shaw and McKay concluded that proximity to industry and commerce was really a proxy for the less directly measurable social variable, social disorganization...The spatial characteristics of the crime pattern are reduced to little more than convenient devices for the organization of data bearing on purely social processes of motivation.

(Brantingham and Jeffery, 1981:232)

This shift away from considering aspects of the physical environment as influential forces in shaping crime patterns has meant that in the last half-century there has been virtually no research examining the relationship between streets and crime;

not to mention other environmental variables.

The crime reducing potential of street network systems has for the most part been forgotten by contemporary urban planners. In a study by Appleyard and Lintell (1972:84), they found that "studies of urban streets have concentrated almost exclusively on increasing their traffic capacity with no parallel accounting of the environmental and social costs." Yet these same authors never entertained the notion that streets could alter or affect the crime patterns of cities.

The first contemporary writer to develop a theory linking crime to street use was Jacobs (1961) and this was only by " inference. In her theory of crime control she explicitly outlined three coherent themes. First, Jacobs stressed that a clear distinction must be made between public and private space. Second, appreciating that a great deal of crime takes place in public space, Jacobs emphasized the need for surveillance. She argued that citizens must become vigilant and become "the eyes of the street". Third, she recognized that areas with few people around tended to nave crimes committed there because there are no witnesses. Consequently, she stressed that the design of cities should be planned so that there is always moderate activity in areas such as sidewalks, parks, and streets. While some of these ideas appeal to common sense, Jacobs never developed the architectural plans to fulfill her ambitions of creating a safe city; this was left for Oscar Newman (1972).

It was the work of Jacobs and Newman that partially inspired Bevis and Nutter (1977) to do the first empirical study of street design and crime. While the previous work of Jacobs and Newman accentuated the importance of street layout, Bevis and Nutter emphasized a different theoretical perspective from the latter authors. Bevis and Nutter postulated that street layout can alter crime in ways other than increasing the territoralitiy and surveillance by residents. From interviews with prisoners, they found that burglars prefer to be familiar/ with areas they victimize and select targets that are conventiont for both access and departure. This woold mean that burglars are probably less familiar with, and find less attractive, those areas that are somewhat isolated or inaccessible. Bevis and Nutter also noticed that some of the early cognitive mapping literature (i.e., Moote & Golledge; 1976) pointed to some interesting observations that suggested that less accessible streets are travelled less by nonresidents than are other streets. This led Bevis and Nutter (1977:4) to hypothesize that "houses and apartments along less accessible streets will not be as familiar to nonresident criminals and will not/be as frequently burglarized as will housing along more accessible streets."<sup>7</sup> This belief was further supported by interviews with

'This is also another possible explanation for the results of Newman's (1980) study of the privatization of St. Louis streets. The fact that these streets were closed to through traffic would mean that criminals no longer travelled these streets and therefore may not of been aware of the potential opportunities that existed on them.

police who suggested to Bevis and Nutter that there are fewer crimes on cul-de-sacs and dead ends. Rather than redesigning streets in order to test their theory, Bevis and Nutter decided it would be wise to first empirically determine the extent to which existing types of street designs exhibit differing crime rates. They then carried out their study to statistically document the relationship between street accessibility and the rate of burglary.

In their study, Bevis and Nutter developed a typology of six basic types of street segments based upon their accessibility (see Figure 2). Their findings indicated that there is a noticeable pattern of lower residential burglary rates for housing on those study blocks with lower accessibility and that there is an upward trend that relates increasing street accessibility with rising crime rates.<sup>8</sup> Despite the innovativeness of the Bevis and Nutter study, its impact has been limited because it has remained relatively unknown.<sup>9</sup> Fortunately, it has not been forgotten as the Brantinghams (1978,1981) have considered some of the ideas developed in the Bevis and Nutter study and consequently developed a more sophisticated theoretical underpinning for their findings.

<sup>9</sup>The research design, methodology, and findings of this study will be discussed in the forthcoming section.

<sup>9</sup>Their study won the student paper competition at the annual American Society of Criminology meeting in Atlanta, 1977. A shortened version of their study was published in a relatively obscure publication by Frisbie (1977).

Figure #2

& Nutter (1979:8) Bevis Typology of Street Segments:



1

The Brantinghams (1978,1981) have developed a theoretical model of crime site selection that uses the concepts of opportunity and motivation and ties them together with the concepts of mobility and perception. Bascially, their theoretical model posits that criminals engage in a search for their targets or victims. The intensity of this search will depend upon how highly motivated they are to commit a crime. In order to evaluate and select targets, criminals will use their previous knowledge of the environment (either learned through experience or through social transmission); this is known as a criminal's awareness space.

Using their own theoretical model, the Brantinghams (1981:51) deductively arrived at some general statements about crime patterns; one of which is a theoretical elaboration of the Bevis and Nutter findings.

In order for a crime to occur, the criminal has to locate a target or victim in his awareness space. A criminal's awareness space will change with new information and as the result of searching. The expansion of an awareness space will most probably occur in a connnected fashion; the borders or edges of currently known areas will be explored first. In exploring new areas, the potential offender will find it easier to penetrate areas with predictable road networks. Areas with grid street layouts are more predictable than areas with winding roads, cul-de-sacs, or dead ends.

The Bevis and Nutter Study: A Critical Review

The Bevis and Nutter study was divided into two phases. The first phase compared the residential burglary rates of individual blocks representing various layout types (refer back to Figure 2). A sample of eleven to sixteen blocks were randomly selected from the 127 census tracts in Minneapolis for each block type. For each of these study blocks, the nearest "through" block was selected to provide a matched pair as a control. The burglary rate for each of the four types of study blocks was then compared to each of the comparison groups of "through" blocks using a sign test. Their results showed that dead ends, cul-de-sacs, and L-type blocks had lower residential burglary rates than did their more accessible control blocks; however, burglary rates along T-type blocks exceeded the rates for its control blocks. Figure 3 describes their results.

Despite the anomaly presented by the T-type blocks in their matched comparisons, it seems that Bevis and Nutter missed an interesting observation. By averaging the rates of the control blocks together, to form one group, a linear trend can be seen from their data; see Figure 4. This linear trend clearly shows that burglary rates are positively associated with increasing block accessibility and the anomaly represented by the T-type blocks disappears with statistical averaging.



Type of street segment

Figure #4.



REMODIFICATION OF THE BEVIS AND NUTTER DATA:

# Type of street segment

In the second phase of the Bevis and Nutter study they demonstrated the relationship between burglary rates and street accessibility at another level of aggregation using regression analysis. This phase of the study used census tracts as the unit of analysis rather than types of blocks. Accessibility was measured in terms of the permeability of street layouts, that is, the ease of travelling through an area. They measured permeability at the census tract level by using a graph theory measure.<sup>10</sup> Social variables from the census and the permeability variable were then used in regression models to predict the burglary rates of different census tracts in Minneapolis. They also explored the possibility that street permeability may be conducive to crimes other than residential burglary. Regression models were used to analyse five other types of crime: commercial burglary, commercial robbery, residential street robbery, residential assault by strangers, and residential rap

by strangers.<sup>11</sup>

17-----

<sup>10</sup>In graph theoretic terms, a map displaying street layouts is actually a planar (two-dimensional) graph consisting of edges (blocks in the layout) and vertices (intersections in the layout). Bevis and Nutter use "beta", a theoretical graph measure, which is a ratio comparing the number of edges to the number of vertices. For a reference on this subject see Kansky (1963). Beta is a basic measure of permeability in which the greater the value of beta the greater the degree of permeability. The weakness of a graph measure theory of . permeability is that it does not take into account aspects of street layout such as the lengths of blocks, the angles at which they meet, or whether blocks are straight, curved, or elevated.

<sup>11</sup>This was a shortcoming of the first phase of the Bevis and Nutter study in that they only analysed residential burglaries. Of course in all fairness to the authors, crime data at this level of aggregation usually does not exist unless one is willing to expend a tremendous amount of time and energy to

The results in the second phase of the study showed that high burglary rates are statistically associated with highly permeable street layouts. After accounting for the variation that was explained by traditional social variables, the permeability variable still accounted for six percent of the variation in residential burglaries (R = .06). Although the contribution to the total variation by the permeability measure is sufficiently large to be statistically significant, it is questionable whether it has any substantive significance; especially in light of the fact that the permeability measure was not statistically significant for any of the other five crimes that were tested.<sup>12</sup>

Of course the major problem with this type of analysis, without entering the arena of causality, is the traditional limitation of the ecological analysis. If Bevis and Nutter had found a substantively high association between the permeability measure and burglaries, this would not necessarily have meant that most of the burglaries were committed on highly accessible blocks. The permeability variable is measuring the general accessibility of large census tracts; not individual blocks. Although the first phase of their study helps in making inferences it is quite conceivable that many of the burglaries in the more accessible census tracts were committed on street  $\overline{11}(\operatorname{cont'd})$  collect it from police records.

 $1^2$ It is possible that the statistically significant finding could simply be an anomaly represented by chance, in which case the findings would be spurious.

blocks with low accessibility. The inherent danger of committing the ecological fallacy does not permit one to analyse data at one level and to then draw conclusions at a lower level of aggregation. In converse, the fact that Bevis and Nutter did not find any statistical relationship between the permeability measure and the other five crimes does not preclude the possibility that a substantive relationship does exist between accessibility and various crimes at a block level, as was partially shown in the first phase of their study.

Perhaps the most interesting part of their study was the way in which they applied their results. Based upon the regression model that they developed for residential burglaries they estimated the amount of money that could be saved, in terms of stolen property, by experimentally changing the street layouts of various census tracts. To change the street layouts of census tracts, traffic diverters would be added in order to decrease the permeability of the high crime areas. While this cost benefit analysis was greatly <u>overstated</u>, due to the theoretical shortcomings of their study, it was a very original and thought provoking application of crime prevention concepts.

J

<u>, {</u>

c.

3 ST

#### I. RESEARCH DESIGN

More empirical work is needed to resolve many of the basic issues in environmental criminology. One of these issues that needs development is the understanding of how and where criminals choose their targets. It has been suggested that street networks influence the mobility patterns and choice of targets by criminals. To test this hypothesis this study examines whether or not property crimes are positively associated with street accessibility. Before describing the research design some ambiguities need to be clarified and several operational definitions developed for some of the more important variables.

As can be seen from the Bevis and Nutter study, different units of analysis and/or levels of aggregation can be used to measure street accessibility. This study uses street segments, similiar to the first phase of the Bevis and Nutter study, as the unit of analysis.<sup>1</sup> This leads to the question of how to operationally define a street segment. A street segment or block, for the purposes of this study, was operationally defined

<sup>1</sup>Census tracts, with the beta measure of permeability, were not used for several reasons: the census tracts in the study area were too large as only three census tracts covered the entire area; the study area is one of rapid growth and the data from the last census would be five years old; and the permeability measure does not measure individual block accessibility or account for structural factors such as length or curvilearity.

as that portion of a street that is between two intersections. This means that intersections can only be end points of a street segment. An intersection was defined as the point where a street ends or where two or more roads meet or cross.

Street segments were differentiated by their structural type, relative accessibility, and by the amount of traffic on them. Bevis and Nutter used a categorical typology to differentiate street segments according to their relative accessibility (refer back to Figure 2). For the purposes of this study, an interval measure of street assessibility was developed based upon the number of "turnings" into each street segment (see figure 5). Figure 5 shows eight examples of different ways in which street segments can be connected.<sup>2</sup> Each direction from which a person can enter or exit a street segment counts as one turning. The turning measure will therefore range from one to six. The accessibility measure used in this study has some distinct advantages over the one used by Bevis and Nutter:

- 1. It is exhaustive in that it can account for every possible type of street segment:
- 2. Each category is mutually exclusive.
- 3. It is universal; it can be applied to any street network system. Minor alterations can also be made to include other means of transportation such as subway systems, trains, pedestrian paths and bicycle trails.

<sup>2</sup>These eight examples do not exhaust the vast number of ways in which street segments can be interconnected but represent some of the more common situations.

4. It allows accessibility to be measured on a scale that is at an interval level.

From the operational definition of street accessibility that is provided, it can be hypothesized that as street accessibility increases, the amount of property crime should also increase.

To test the appropriateness of the accessibility measure used in this study and to see if structural differences influence the amount of crime on street segments several additional distinctions were made. A distinction was made between three types of street layouts: dead ends, cul-de-sacs, and "grid" (which accounted for all the street segments not in the first two groups). A structural distinction was also made between the length of street segments and whether or not they were straight or curved.<sup>3</sup> The measure of accessibility used in this study was tested against these structural distinctions to see if the structural distinctions are necessary in an overall exploration of accessibility and crime.

<sup>3</sup>A curvilinear street segment was simply defined as one that was not straight. No effort was made to differentiate amongst the severity of the curves in these non-straight segments as no simple method was available to measure them. Likewise, elevated curves such as hills were also not considered.



The measure of accessibility (TURNS) categorizes cul-de-sacs and dead ends, by their nature of having only one vertice, as less accessible than segments in the "grid" group. This means, if accessibility influences criminal target choice behaviour, dead ends and cul-de-sacs should have less property crime than grid street segments, because property offenders will not have been as likely to travel on them. If the operational definition of accessibility used in this study proves to be an appropriate measure, there should also be no difference between the amount of crime on dead ends and cul-de-sacs since they are structurally the same according to the accessibility measure.<sup>4</sup> The accessibility measure also does not differentiate between curved and straight streets. If the accessibility measure used in this study proves adequate by itself, the amount of crime on curved and straight street segments should not vary.

The research strategy involved in using an <u>ex post facto</u> design to test the stated hypothesis is basically quite simple. A geographical area is chosen and the various types of street segments within it are identified. Over a specified period of time the number of property crimes on these different types of street segments are then compared. Although experimental control is inherently impossible, with an <u>ex post facto</u> research design, <sup>4</sup>This Suggestion contradicts the findings of the Bevis and Nutter study. Bevis and Nutter believed that cul-de-sacs were more accessible, in terms of entering or leaving, than dead ends because of the turn-around area of cul-de-sacs. However, according to the definition of accessibility as put forth in this study there should be no measurable difference between these two types of street segments.

it is still possible statistically to control for possible mitigating variables. A review of the literature will generally indicate which extraneous variables are relatively important. These theoretically important extraneous variables can be controlled statistically if data is gathered for them. While it cannot be proven that all relevant extraneous variables are controlled, a reasoned selection of control variables can increase the plausibility of findings from an <u>ex post facto</u> research design.

Two potentially mitigating variables that should be controlled statistically when examining street accessibility are:

a) Volume of traffic on street segments

A potentially important mitigating variable that should be controlled is the amount of street traffic. This variable is needed to control for the intensity of use for each street segment. If people travel frequently on certain streets then they probably will perceive more criminal opportunities on these blocks then on seldom travelled streets. Opportunities existing on frequently travelled streets are more likely to be a part of a person's awareness space due to their familiarity. Conversely, if a street is never or infrequently travelled, then a criminal is not likely to be aware of any potential opportunities that exist upon it. b) Potential Opportunities -

7.5

Probably the most important extrañeous variable that should be controlled is that of the potential opportunities that exist on each block. If a block has no potential criminal opportunities then it is not likely to have any reported crime (e.g., if there are no buildings on a street then this precludes the possibility of a burglary). In attempting to control for potential opportunities it is important to realize that this concept has many components. The components that should be controlled include the following: the number and type of opportunities that exist on each block, the perceived lucrativeness of the targets, and the perceived vulnerability of each target.

While it is relatively easy to list potentially mitigating variables that should be controlled, it is not always so easy operationally to define and measure them. The success of this depends upon more practical matters such as the ease with which data are available and can be collected. The next few sections will discuss the collection of the data and will operationally define the independent variables that have so far only been briefly discussed.

بر میں بر مینا

### Specific Universe and Time Frame

The specific geographical setting chosen for this study was the two municipalities of Maple Ridge and Pitt Meadows, British Columbia.<sup>5</sup> These two small suburban satellites of Vancouver were selected for many reasons.

- 1. The local R.C.M.P. were cooperative in allowing access to their crime records and in establishing contacts with the local and regional planning departments.
- 2. In turn, the planning departments of these two municipalities and the regional planning department were also supportive and supplied many of the maps needed at no cost.
- 3. This geographical region is isolated from surrounding communities by two major rivers. This feature is important because it minimizes the number of streets that are shared with other municipalities and reduces potential displacement
  of crimes by offenders.<sup>6</sup> Figure 6 provides a map of the geographical study area.
- 4. The street network system of this area was sufficently

<sup>5</sup>A separate analysis of these two municpalities would not be feasible because one R.C.M.P. detachment services both regions. The crime data for the two communities is not kept separate.

<sup>6</sup>Most of the crimes within these two communities are likely to be committed by residents. This assumption was later verified after examining the home locations of offenders who were apprehended.

varied in nature. It provided a-diverse sample of "street segment" types. Many municipalities offer no range in street segment types as they are developed in a typical grid-like fashion.

The time frame used in this study was the year of 1979. Every property crime that was reported to the R.C.M.P. during this time period was analysed. A longer time span, from 1979 to 1981, was originally planned at the onset of the study but due to financial and time constraints the study period was shortened.<sup>7</sup>

'Many difficulties in collecting and developing the data for this study were encountered. Although the local R.C.M.P. were very cooperative, unforeseen delays in obtaining screening clearances through the bureaucratic hierarchy of the organization was one of the major drawbacks in the collection of the data. In fact, one of the two students who was hired to collect the crime data never did obtain the necessary police clearance because of difficulties in obtaining information about his family background. Nonetheless, when it came time to collect the crime data, a decision had to be made to either collect as many cases as possible, with minimal detail, or to limit the time span and to extract as much information as possible from each case. The latter method was chosen because it would provide a richer data base for future analysis.



#### The Collection of the Environmental Data

Two separate address specific data sets are needed to examine the relations between crime and the environment. One must contain information about the occurrence of crimes and their specific locations. The other data set must represent environmental opportunities that are available to the criminal population and the accessibility to them via the street network.

All the crime and environmental data were aggregated at a street segment level because this was the unit of analysis for this study. In order to enumerate each street segment it was necessary to obtain two sets of maps. One set of maps, land usage maps, was used to give each street segment a unique identification number (ID). The other set of maps, legal maps, was used to locate the address range (the high and low, address) of each street segment. The address range was needed so that the location of crimes and opportunities could later be matched to the street segment ID. In addition to the segment ID, many potential measures of opportunity were collected from the land usage maps. Table A.22 of the Appendix lists the information that was obtained from these maps.

In addition to the environmental data gathered from the land usage maps more data in machine readable form was obtained from the British Columbia Tax Assessment Authorities. From this agency a magnetic computer tape was obtained with tax assessment

data on every legal property in Maple Ridge and Pitt Meadows. One of the conditions for the use of this data was that no properties would be singled out or identified in any reports. From an address specific environmental and crime data set it would be fairly easy to identify criminogenic sites or "hot-spots" of criminal activity. While such information might prove to be very useful in prevention efforts, it could also cause embarrassment to the identified property owners or businesses. To ensure the confidential nature of this data, no information or analysis was done for any individual addresses.<sup>8</sup>

Table 1 contains a list of the variables that were selected from the tax assessment. These variables were available for every property in the two study areas.<sup>9</sup> This tax assessment data was also aggregated to a street segment level. Since the land value, improvement value, and lot size were known for each property it was possible to calculate the average land value per square foot for each street segment. These monetary measures might provide an indication of a target's or street segment's general attractiveness to the criminal population. If there were <sup>9</sup>It should be noted that the data provided by this agency serves a variety of purposes - valuation, statistical reporting, and administration, as well as the fulfillment of statutory obligations placed on the agency. It was not the purpose of this data to be used or misconstrued as satisfying purposes other than those intended by the Area Assessors.

<sup>9</sup>Only a few criminological studies have taken advantage of automated geographical information systems. Rhodes, Conly, and Schachter (1980) used a similar automated system except that their crime data could not be located at an address level, so it was necessary for them to aggregate their data into larger areal units.

#### TABLE 1

### LIST OF VARIABLES TAKEN FROM THE TAX ASSESSMENT DATA

Street name. Address of property. - Actual Land Use Code; collapsed into the following categories: - single family dwellings, - duplexes, - multi-family (apartment blocks, row housing, conversion, high rises, residential hotels), - mobile homes, - civic and insitutional buildings, - transient accomodations (hotels, motel and auto courts, campgrounds, seasonal resorts), commercial establishments, - farms, industrial sites, - vacant lots. Lot size (square feet). - Land value of each property. - Improvement value of each property (i.e. assessed value of each building on the property).

street segments or neighbourhoods with relatively affluent homes, then these two measures would reflect this. In addition, by knowing the numbers and types of targets on each street segment, which was provided by the actual land use code<sup>10</sup>, some of the objective opportunities that may attract a criminal to a street segment can be identified.

#### Description of the Environmental Data Set

Altogether there were in excess of 1500 individual street segments identified in the study area. Fourteen of these blocks were excluded from the statistical analysis, because they crossed outside of the boundaries of the study area. Table 2 shows the composition of these street segments according to their accessibility (TURNS) and structural type (TYPE). As seen from this table, only 30 street segments (1.9% of the total) had one turning (accessibility equal to one). Due to the relatively low number of street segments with just one turning, this group was added to the group of street segments that had only two turnings for the statistical analyses that was done later. This table also shows that there were a total of 60 cul-de-sacs, 266 dead ends and 1249 grid segment types. Of these 1575 street segments, 87.37% were classified as straight (n=1376) while the remaining 12.63% were classified as curved

 $10^{10}$  Ten general types of properties were differentiated using the actual land use code (see Table 1).

TYPE .1 2 3 4 5 6 ROW TOTAL CUL-DE-SAC \* 47 35 \* 10 \* .0 2 0 (STRAIGHT) 3.08 13 CUL-DE-SAC 5 0 O n (CURVED) 0.8% DEADEND 17 \* 163 \* 46 7 1 \* 234 0 (STRAIGHT) 14.98 19 \* DEADEND 32 7 Λ 1 1 Δ (CURVED) 2.08 GRID 1095 48 \* 166 \* 454 \* 297 \* 130 0 (STRAIGHT) 69.58 GRID 38 \* 75 29 154 (CURVED) 9.88 COLUMN 30 277 268 537 328 135 1575 1.98 17.68 17.08 34.18 20.88 TOTAL 8.68

TABLE 2

CROSS-TABULATION OF STREET TYPE BY ACCESSIBILITY (TURNS)

TURNS

Number of missing observations = 14

**94** 

 $\langle \overline{} \rangle$ 

(n=199). Table-3 gives a cross-tabulation of street accessibility (TURNS) by street flow (FLOW). According to the traffic flow variable, 1337 street segments were classified as feeders (84.9%), 126 as minor arteries (8.0%), 68 as major arteries (4.3%) and 44 as highway segments (2.8%). Altogether there was a total of 265 miles of street networks in the study area. The mean length of each street segment 890 feet (.17 miles) with a standard deviation of 1011 feet (.19 miles).

Table 4 gives a breakdown of the data that were obtained from the tax assessment authorities. Ten land use groupings were constructed from the tax assessment land use file as these variables were reported with enough consistency to make empirical analyses possible. Table 4 gives the total number of units for each building type, the average square feet of the lot, the average land value and the average improvement value for each building type. The values given in this table were based upon each individual property. For the purposes of this study, these data were later aggregated to a street segment level. Table 5 gives the results of these aggregated data. Aggregated at a street segment level are the average number of buildings (by each type), the average lot area, the average lot value and and the average improvement value for each building type.

TURNS TYPE ROW TOTAL FEEDER 84.98 MINOR - 11 ARTERY 8.0% MAJOR O

CROSS-TABULATION OF STREET FLOW BY ACCESSIBILITY (TURNS)

Table 3

ARTERY 4.38 n HIGHWAY 2.8% COLUMN TOTAL 1.98 17.68 17.08 34.18 20.88 8.68

Number of missing observations = 14

TABLE 4
---------

LAND USE DATA

*******	****	********	********	*********
TYPE OF UNIT	N OF UNITS	AVERAGE SQ. FEET OF LOT	AVERAGE LAND VALUE OF LOT	AVERAGE IMPROVEMENT VALUE
SFD	9642	68,773	\$ 29,156	\$ 30,221
DUPLEX	97	18,765	27,303	35,647
APARTMENT	428	76,682	26,167	52,622
MOBILE HOME	367	• _		13,757
CIVIC INST.	114	347,895	95,841	171,013
INDUSTRIAL	74	194,352	109,964	146,059
VACANT	288	192,808	47,371	- 8
TRANSIENT	11	139,779	189,827	116,404
COMMERCIAL	354	64,642	78,269	91,271
FARM	517	584,182 J	86,939	49,133
				•

### TABLE 5

### LAND USE DATA

## AGGREGATED TO A STREET SEGMENT LEVEL

#### \*\*\*\*\*

TYPE OF UNIT	AVÈRAGE PER SEGMENT	AVERAGE SQ. FEET OF LOT	AVERAGE LAND VALUE OF LOT	AVERAGE IMPROVEMENT VALUE
*****	******	*********	****	******
SFD	6.12	61,230	\$ 29,010	\$ 30,010
DUPLEX	.06	16,420	26,740	34,910
APARTMENT	. 27	31,860	25, 380	64,050
MOBILE HOME	.23	· –		13,510
CIVIC INST.	.07	315,300	103,770	234,860
INDUSTRIAL	.05	177,470	109,470	513,100
VACANT	.18	170,060	44,580	-
TRANSIENT	.01	114,360	189,830	207,310
COMMERCIAL	. 22	281,860	80,650	116,150
FARM	.33	578,900 <b>.</b>	86,560	48,710
	TYPE OF UNIT SFD DUPLEX APARTMENT MOBILE HOME CIVIC INST. INDUSTRIAL VACANT TRANSIENT COMMERCIAL FARM	AVÈRAGE PER SEGMENT SEGMENT SFD 6.12 DUPLEX .06 APARTMENT .27 MOBILE HOME .23 CIVIC INST07 INDUSTRIAL .05 VACANT .18 TRANSIENT .01 COMMERCIAL .22 FARM33	AVÈRAGE PER SEGMENTAVERAGE SQ. FEET OF LOTSFD6.1261,230DUPLEX.0616,420APARTMENT.2731,860MOBILE HOME.23-CIVIC INST07315,300INDUSTRIAL.05177,470VACANT.18170,060TRANSIENT.01114,360COMMERCIAL.22281,860FARM.33578,900	AVÈRAGE PER SEGMENT         AVERAGE SQ. FEET OF LOT         AVERAGE LAND VALUE OF LOT           SFD         6.12         61,230         \$ 29,010           DUPLEX         .06         16,420         26,740           APARTMENT         .27         31,860         25,380           MOBILE HOME         .23         -         -           CIVIC INST.         .07         315,300         103,770           INDUSTRIAL         .05         177,470         109,470           VACANT         .18         170,060         44,580           TRANSIENT         .01         114,360         189,830           COMMERCIAL         .22         281,860         80,650           FARM         .33         578,900         86,560

It should be noted that some of these values are dramatically different at this level of aggregation. These differences are simply an artifact of averaging "averages" and demonstrates how careful one must be when interpreting data at varying levels of aggregation.

## Collection of the Crime Data

Crime data was only collected for property offences. It made no intrinsic sense to collect data about crimes that were not conceptually related to the environment in terms of the opportunity structure. Crimes can be "crudely" lumped into two categories: violent crime and property crime. Violent crimes, such as murder, assault or rapell are conceptually more dependent upon the dyadic relationship between the offender and the victim than between the offender and the crime location. Although personal crimes display spatial patterning, this is probably a consequence of the social interaction of the offender and the victim, as opposed to the influence of the physical opportunity structure. Personal crimes also tend to be more spontaneous in nature as the motivation is often highly affective as opposed to the instrumental motivation (i.e., conscious motivation) that is often involved with property

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>An interesting environmental study of rape was conducted by Stoks (1982). This study examined rape at a microspatial level and developed a statistical model that was able to discriminate between the sites of attempted and completed rapes.

crimes.

Property crimes can be classified by using a generic typology or by using their strict legal interpretations. If categories provided in the Canadian Criminal Code are used then legal interpretations must be made for each crime occurrence. The legal categories provided in the Canadian Criminal Code are too artificial for many research purposes.<sup>12</sup> Because of the technical difficulties associated with using legal categories, a loose generic typology was used in this study.<sup>13</sup>. Information regarding the following eight property crimes was collected: bicycle theft, auto theft, theft from auto, shoplifting, robbery, other property theft, burglary, and wilful damage.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>12</sup>For example, s.294 of the Canadian Criminal Code, arbitrarily distinguishes between theft over two hundred dollars and theft under two hundred dollars. If a legal category was used for classification purposes, the researcher would have to make a decision as to which category the theft belonged for each case. While this seems relatively staightforward, it must be realized that the value of the stolen property is often not recorded, illegible, or at best only an estimate by the attending police officer.

<sup>13</sup>In the collection of the crime data it was also necessary to establish counting rules in order to eliminate idiosyncratic interpretations of criminal events. For example, if a criminal forcibly gains entry into a house, finds some car keys and then steals the home owner's automobile - how should this criminal event be recorded? It could be recorded as a break and enter, an auto theft, a case of/wilful damage, or even all three. Fortunately, police departments have procedure manuals on how to "officially" count crime occurrences. Whether or not the investigating officer made the correct decision when recording the crime is irrelevant as the researcher can recode the event when the case is analysed by knowing the correct counting procedures

<sup>14</sup>The shoplifting and robbery categories were eventually deleted from the analysis because of their relatively rare occurrence. Shoplifting was rare in the sense that it was not frequently reported to the police.

For each crime the following information was recorded:

file number;

year, month, day and time the complaint was received; year, month, day and time the actual crime\*occurred, if known;

type of crime (according to the eight categories); success of the crime - this was coded in the following manner: (1) successful, (2) attempted, or (3) not sure;<sup>15</sup> type of premise in which the crime occurred: residential, commercial, public, or other;

location of the crime; this includes the address of where the crime occurred, the address of where the crime was reported, the address of where any stolen items were retrieved, and the home location of the offenders if they were apprehended;

the value of the property loss, if known;

the number of offenders apprehended, including their age, sex, race, previous criminal record, and court disposition; additional information was also gathered about each specific

type of crime in terms of a description of the property that

<sup>15</sup>Often people are not really sure whether a crime has occurred but report it anyway. It is not always easy to tell whether one's home has been entered or whether an item was simply misplaced or lost as opposed to being stolen. Approximately fifteen percent of the property crimes reported to the police were declared unfounded by the police in this study. These cases were not recorded, but for those cases where it was not really clear whether or not a criminal event occurred they were recored as "not sure".

was stolen or damaged.

### Description of the Crime Data

During the study, information was gathered for every founded property crime. The frequency of each specific type of crime can be seen in Table 6. In 93.4% of these cases the crime was clearly committed, while in only 4.4% of the cases was the offender interrupted in his attempt to complete the crime. In the remaining 2.2% of the cases there was some doubt expressed either by the police or by the complainant as to whether a crime had actually occurred. Of the 3241 cases, information was available for 73% (n=2368) of them concerning the amount of property loss or damage that was involved. Of these 2368 cases, the approximate monetary loss, in 1979 dollars, was about \$862,600.00 or approximately \$360 per crime.

Only 310 (9,6%) of the property offences resulted in an arrest being made. From these 310 cases, a total of 485 persons were arrested, but this figure is inflated as the same person was often charged and arrested for several different crimes. Only 332 of these arrested persons went to trial. No official court action was taken in 54.8% of the cases. In the remaining court cases, the accused received the following outcomes: innocent (1.8%), probation (28.3%), jail sentence (2.7%), and other sentences accounted for the remaining 12.3% of the
# TABLE 6

# FREQUENCY OF PROPERTY CRIMES\*

Type of crime	Absolute Frequency	Rela <b>tive</b> Frequency
Bicycle theft	431	13.38
Auto theft	128	3.9
Theft from Auto	480	14.8
Burglary	6998	21.5
Other property theft	531	16.4
Wilful Damage	973	30.0
TOTAL ,	3241	100.0%

\*Robbery and shoplifting were deleted because of their low counts.

5

accused.<sup>16</sup> Of the 485 persons that were arrested, 53.3% had a prior criminal record. Most of these arrested persons were males (90.2%), with an average age of about 24.1 years.

i) Bicycle Theft

Of the 431 bicycles reported stolen, 45.7% were stolen from the owner's residence. Another 11.8% were stolen from commercial premises, 23.8% from public premises, and the balance were stolen from other locations (18.7%). The average value for each bicycle was about \$111.92, with the following types being stolen: standard (33.7%), three speeds (6.4%), five-speeds (14.5%), and ten-speeds (45.3%). Only four persons were arrested for stealing bicycles. This suggests that the perpetrators are either very clever or the police view this crime as too petty to fully investigate, in light of other offences that they deem to be more serious.

ii) Auto Theft

victim's residence, 34.4% at commercial establishments, 3.9% at <sup>16</sup>The fact that only nine persons were jailed from a total of 3241 property crimes would appear to make crime a very lucrative enterprise. The odds of receiving a jail sentence for committing a property offence would therefore be approximately .28%, hardly the type of statistic that contributes to a deterrent effect.

Of the 128 cases of auto theft, 37.5% occurred at the

public institutions, and the balance occurred at other locations (24.2%). The method in which the cars were stolen suggests a high degree of carelessness on the part of the victims as 38.3% of the auto thefts were assisted by the owners having left the keys in the ignition. The remainder of the cars stolen resulted from the victim's keys being stolen (26.2%), the car being hot-wired (32.2%), or the car being forcibly taken (3.3%). The vast majority of the cars stolen were taken from parking lots (49.5%), while 13.6% were stolen from the street, 29.1% from driveways, 6.8% from garages, and only one percent from underground parking lots (there are very few of these in the study area). Of the 128 auto thefts, twenty-four (18.8%) of them resulted in the arrest of a suspect, the highest arrest rate for any of the property crimes analysed in this study.

#### iii) Theft from Auto

The 480 cases of theft from auto followed a similiar pattern to the auto thefts in that the victim's residence was the usual scene of the crime (36.9%), while 25.2% happened at commercial establishments, 9.4% at public institutions, and the remainder were at other locations (28.5%). The specific location of the car was as follows: parking lots (44.6%), on the street (27.0%), driveways (15.6%), garages (2.1%), and underground parking lots (10.7%). Table A.1 of the Technical Appendix shows the frequency and types of items that were stolen. In addition

to these thefts, 21.1% of the cars sustained some form of damage. A suspect was arrested in only 3.7% of these cases.

iv) Break and Enter

Of the 698 cases of burglary, 431 occurred at private residences (61.7%), 186 at commercial premises (26.6%), 80 at public institutions (11.5%), and only one case elsewhere (0.1%). Table A.2 of the Technical Appendix shows the range of goods that were stolen. Only 5.3% of the burglaries resulted in somebody being arrested.

v) Other Property Thefts

OF the 531 cases of property theft, 41.6% occurred at the residence of the victim, 27.3% at commercial establishments, 13.9% at public institutions, and 17.1% at other locations. Table A.3 of the Appendix shows the frequency and types of items that were stolen for this crime. Somebody was arrested in 10.4% of these cases.

vi) Wilful Damage

Of the 973 cases of wilful damage, 40% occurred at the residence of the victim, 32% at commercial establishments, 21.9%

at public institutions and 5.3% occurred elsewhere. Table A.4 of the Appendix shows the frequency and type of damage that occurred. Twelve percent of the cases resulted in somebody being arrested.

vii) Property Crime Data Set

Table A.23 of the Appendix provides a list of all the environmental and crime variables used in the statistical analysis. Although there were originally 3241 property crimes (see Table 6) this figure was reduced to 3100 after eliminating incorrect addresses. The loss of the 141 property crimes was the result of not being able to match the address of the crime location to the geographical framework of the study. This was the result of not being able to determine the location of the crime from the police files or because the location of the crime was outside of the municipal boundaries. Anytime a crime is reported to a detachment, a file must be opened, whether or not it was actually committed within the police jurisdiction.

With 1575 street segments this meant that there was an average of 1.97 property crimes per street segment during 1979. Table 7 gives a breakdown of the frequency in which crimes occurred on different street segments. As can be seen from this table, 50.6% of the street segments had no reported property crime on them. At the extreme end of the scale, one street segment accounted for 110 property crimes by itself.

\*

• • • • •

FREQUENCY OF PROPERTY CRIMES ON STREET SEGMENTS

NUMBER OF STREET SEGMENTS	RELATIVE FREQ. OF SEGMENTS	NUMBER OF PROPERTY CRIMES	PERCENTAGE OF PROPERTY CRIMES
797 5 306 154 99 55 37 26 18 10 11 7 6 8 2 4 4 3 3 3 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	50.6% 19.4 9.8 6.3 3.5 2.3 1.7 1.1 0.6 0.7 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.1 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1	$ \begin{array}{c} 0\\ 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 6\\ 7\\ 8\\ 9\\ 10\\ 11\\ 12\\ 13\\ 14\\ 15\\ 16\\ 17\\ 18\\ 20\\ 23\\ 24\\ 25\\ 27\\ 28\\ 29\\ 30\\ 31\\ 32\\ 35\\ 40\\ 41\\ 44\\ 49\\ 50\\ 51\\ 110\\ \end{array} $	0.008 9.87 9.93 9.58 7.10 5.97 5.03 4.06 2.58 3.19 2.26 2.13 3.10 0.84 1.81 1.94 1.55 1.65 1.74 0.65 1.48 0.77 1.61 0.87 0.90 1.87 1.94 1.00 1.87 1.94 1.00 1.87 1.94 1.00 1.87 1.94 1.00 1.63 1.13 1.29 1.32 1.42 1.58 1.61 1.65 3.55
1575	100.0%	3100	100.00%

II. THE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF THE DATA

Theoretical Concerns of Using a Statistical Analysis

In the previous chapter it was hypothesized that there was a positive correlation between property crime and street accessibility. This chapter reports the statistical examination of this relationship. The statistical analysis serves two functions. First, it descriptively summarizes the data. Different forms of multivariate analysis were performed that examined structural interrelationships amongst the many variables. An analysis of the effects that street accessibility has on reported property crime would be incomplete without considering the possible mitigating influences from many of the theoretically important independent variables. The multivariate analysis reported in this thesis attempted to isolate the effects that street accessiblity has on property crime while controlling these other factors. The second function of the statistical analysis was to make inductive generalizations. The purpose of inductive logic is to make generalizations about some population, on the basis of a sample drawn from this population or to formulate general laws on the basis of repeated observations (Blalock; 1979:4).

The use of a statistical analysis in this study such as this is not without debate. Usually statistical inferences are made from a sample to a population. In this study a sample was not used; the entire population was utilized. Every street segment in Maple Ridge and Pitt Meadows was included in the study. Many authors (Blalock; 1979, Greenberg; 1979, Morrison; 1970) in the sociological literature have debated whether or not it is appropriate to use significance tests in instances where one is dealing with the entire population. The argument against significance tests is that, since the entire population is accounted for, there can be no larger population to which one wishes to generalize. If this is so, then tests of significance would be inappropriate since no sampling error would be involved. While the argument against significance tests has some merit, the researchers who argue for the use of significance tests believe that this latter point of view over-simplifies the objectives of nonexperimental research. Some experimenters may be satisfied with generalizations to fixed populations; however, inferences can also be made about the causal processes that may have generated the population data. This second view revolves around the processes that could have generated different subpopulations. If there are varying amounts of reported property crime on different types of street segments, then these differences were either due to some causal influence or to chance or some combination of the latter. Blalock (1972:242) a notes that "most social scientists have this more inclusive

objective of saying something about causal processes, and therefore they should always make tests in order to rule out the simple 'chance processes' alternative". In addition to testing the levels of significance<sup>1</sup>, many of the statistical tests used measure the strength of the relationships amongst the variables. Another argument that is made in defence of significance tests for populations is that it may be the researcher's aim to generalize from the population studied to a larger conceptual universe of populations. Consequently, if some observed pattern between street accessibility and reported property crime is found in Maple Ridge and Pitt Meadows, then conclusions may be drawn about these patterns in other similar cities. The identification of similiar cities is, of course, problematic.

Rather than collect a limited sample of street segments and introduce sampling biases, this study used the entire population of street segments for the two municipalities. While the study area, being suburban, may not be representative of many major urban cities, the results may be similar to results that would be found in other North American cities of similar size and with

<sup>1</sup>The choice of the significance level is completely arbitrary but by convention a .05 or .01 significance level is most often used as the standard for statistical significance (Morrison; 1970). This means that there is, respectively, one chance in twenty or one chance in a hundred that a Type II error will be made, the failure to reject assumptions when they are actually false. Rather than use some arbitrary conventional level of signifance the actual level of significance will be reported throughout this thesis. Regardless of the level obtained an opinion will be stated as to whether or not it supports the hypothesis using signifance levels of .05 or .01 as guidelines and not as sacred absolutes. similar characteristics. The major concern with the two suburban municipalities in this study was that there would not be enough property crimes in order to detect any geographical patterns. One must also be concerned about the sample size. As a sample size increases it is statistically easier to obtain significant results. If significance tests are used with large populations care must be taken to look at substantive relationships as well as statistically significant ones.

#### Statistical Methods For Controlling Opportunities

Despite the use of multivariate statistical techniques, it cannot be over-emphasized that a statistical analysis will not rule out alternative explanations, especially those that introduce additional variables as common causes of the variables under consideration. Theoretically, it would appear from the literature review that the most important additional variable to consider is that of opportunity. If more reported property crime occurs on highly accessible streets, this may simply be due to the fact that there are more opportunities on more highly accessible streets. This raises the issue of how one statistically controls for the number of opportunities in the environment.

It would appear that there are two methods by which one can control for opportunities. One method is to contruct a crime rate (crime per opportunities). For instance, when comparing the

number of murders between cities, it is usually more meaningful to express the statistics in terms of a rate (the number of murders per 100,000 people) rather than giving just counts. The other method requires opportunities to be statistically controlled as independent variables. In this latter method the dependent variable is entered just as a count. The argument in favour of this method is that often in environmental criminology the indiscriminate use of denominators has produced rates that can only be described as bizarge (Harries; 1981:147).

A careful analysis of the conceptual difficulties surrounding the concept of opportunity reveals that at least two questions have to be answered before using objective measures of opportunity as denominators: what is an opportunity and are all opportunities equal? In this study six different property crimes are examined. While it might be feasible to use the number of building units<sup>2</sup> as a statistical control, in the analysis of a crime like breaking and entering, it does not make any conceptual sense to use it while analyzing some other crime such as bicycle or auto theft. Since building units were the only type of opportunity in which environmental data could be collected, the number of possible denominators that could be used was very limited. To further complicate matters, there is the question of whether different types of opportunity should be treated equally. Considering different opportunities as

<sup>2</sup>In an apartment building each single apartment would be considered as a separate unit.

equivalent units (e.g., commercial units and mobile homes) even though they may have different rates of risk, may be tantamount to adding apples and oranges together. Furthermore, even identical opportunities may have different rates of risk depending upon their physical locations or ease of accessibility. It could be hypothesized that apartment units on ground level are more vulnerable to breaking and enterings due to easier accessibility, than are apartments that are located on other levels. If physical location is the only difference amongst these apartments should they be considered equal risks? In the future weighting factors may be produced to create equivalent units for comparative purposes but with the current state of knowledge, it is not possible. For this study opportunity measures were used as independent variables instead of constructing rates with the dependent variable.

# Overview of the Multivariate Statistical Techniques

The first series of statistical tests reported in this chapter are one-way analyses of variance. Separate analyses will show the relationship between the dependent variable, the amount of reported property crime, and single independent variables. The single independent variables are the different measures of street accessibility. Despite the findings of any strong relationships, it must be pointed out that the relative strength between any of these variables could be the result of

confounding influences. In order to statistically control for some of these confounding influences further analyses were performed using n-way analysis of variance, multiple regression, and analysis of covariance. These latter analyses will be reported in subsequent sections.

### The Analysis of Street Segment Types

i) Curved VS. Straight Street Segments

One distinction made about street segments was in relation to their curvilinearity. It was hypothesized that there should be no difference in the amounts of property crime (CR.TOTAL)<sup>3</sup> on these two types of street segments because their accessibility characteristics are similar. In order to test this hypothesis a oneway analysis of variance<sup>4</sup> was performed, comparing the amount of reported property crime that occurred on these two types of street segments. The results of the analysis showed no statistically significant difference (F-ratio = 0.007, F-prob = 0.935, df = 1,1573). This supports the view that there is no difference between the amount of crime on these two types of blocks. See Table A.5 of the Appendix for the technical  $\frac{3}{CR}$  TOTAL is a variable that represents the total number of reported property crimes on each street segment. It is simply a summation of the six crime types used in this study.

<sup>4</sup>The statistical analyses that were performed in this thesis utilized the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS).

aspects of this analysis.

ii) Dead ends VS. Cul-de-sacs

Earlier it was discussed whether there should be more crime on dead ends or on cul-de-sacs. In a "Newmanesque" fashion, it could be argued that cul-de-sacs should have less crime on them due to the greater surveillance potential provided by the usual layout of homes on these street segments. On the other hand, Bevis and Nutter (1977:7) expected the direct opposite; that there would be more crime on cul-de-sacs than dead ends. They considered cul-de-sacs as more accessible to criminals because they are easier to enter and leave due to the turnaround areas at the end of these streets.

Despite these two conflicting views, it was argued that there would probably not be any difference in the amount of reported property crime on these two types of street segments because they were both equally accessible according to the turning measure that was employed in this study. A comparison between the amounts of property crime on these two types of street segments provided a good test of the accessibility measure being employed.

A oneway analysis of variance was performed to compare the average amount of crime (CR.TOTAL) on these two types of street segments. The results of the analysis revealed no strong relationship (F-ratio = 0.003, F-prob = .9597, df = 1,324),

suggesting that there is no important difference in the amount of property crime on cul-de-sacs and dead ends. See Table A.6 in the Appendix for the technical details of the analysis.

iii) Dead ends and Cul-de-sacs VS. Grid Street Segments

Earlier in this thesis, it was hypothesized that grid street segments should have more crime because of their structurally higher accessibility, than dead ends and cul-de-sacs. Since there was no significant difference between dead ends and cul-de-sacs, these two groups were collapsed. The amount of crime on street segments in this collapsed group was then compared to the amount of crime on the grid street segments. Using a oneway anavisis of variance, it was found that there was more property crime (CR.TOTAL) on the grid street segments than on the other group (F-ratio = 16.36), F-prob = 0.0001, df = 1,1573). The technical aspects of this analysis are contained in Table A.7 of the Appendix. Grid street segments averaged 2.24 property crimes per block while dead ends and cul-de-sacs averaged only .91 crimes per block. This result is not only statistically significant but would appear to be of substantive interest in that there is over twice as much crime on grid type streets than dead ends or cul-de-sacs. Of course, this relationship could still be due to some third variable, such as different street segment lengths or the number of buildings on each block. This issue will later be explored in

107

in the president of the ort of the in

more detail.

# Analysis of Street Flow

Earlier in this thesis, it was hypothesized that the volume of traffic could have a pronounced effect on the amount of property crime on street segments. It was argued that street segments with greater traffic volumes should have more property crime on them than those streets that are seldom travelled. People would not be aware of potential crime opportunities on streets that are never or seldom used. As a first test of this relationship a oneway analysis of variance was performed comparing the amounts of crime (CR.TOTAL) on street segments grouped according to their street flow classification. The statistical results strongly support the hypothesis (F-ratio = 73.475, F-prob = 0.0000, df = 3,1571). The technical aspects of the analysis are contained in Table A.8 of the Appendix. As the street flow increased so did the amount of property crime. The street segments classified as feeders averaged 1.36 crimes per block; minor arteries averaged 3.49 crimes per block; major arteries averaged 4.93 crimes per block; and highway blocks averaged 11.59 crimes per block. The substantive difference between the amount of reported crime on different types of street segments is very high. Although no third variables were statistically controlled there was over eight times the amount of reported property crime between two on

these subpopulations (highway and feeder street segemnts).

# Analysis of Street Accessibility

é,

In order to test the turning measure (TURNS) a series of oneway analyses of variance were done for each of the six property crimes and for the total amount of reported property crime (CR.TOTAL). Table 8 gives a summary of these statistical analyses (Tables A.9 - A.15 of the Appendix contain a technical summary of each statistical analysis). Table 8 shows that the accessibility measure used in this study was related to all of the property crimes except for bicycle theft.

The fact that bicycle theft is an anomaly is not too suprising. The accessibility measure attempts to measure the perceived awareness of potential criminal opportunities on each segment based upon the movement or activity patterns of people. The movement patterns of people are generally restricted to the use of street networks. Since children usually walk and ride bicycles, as well as travel in cars and buses,<sup>5</sup> they likely use more direct routes such as trails and shortcuts, especially in a rural/suburban area as in this study area, rather than relying exclusively on the street network. The different and restricted paths that children travel upon probably results in their having

Of course there are exceptions to every rule. In one nearby municipality a gang of youths earned the nickname of the "Taxi-cab gang". These youths used taxi cabs to take them to and from the scene of houses that they would break and enter.

# Table 8

# ONEWAY ANALYSES OF VARIANCE

TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND CRIME

Summary Table					
Type of Crime	F ratio	Signifcance 🛓			
BICYCLE THEFT	1.570	0.1799			
AUTO THEFT	6.545	0.0000			
THEFT FROM AUTO	7.208	0.0000			
PROPERTY THEFT	6.665	0.0000			
WILFUL DAMAGE	10.421	0.0000			
BREAK & ENTER	9.735	0.0000			
TOTAL CRIME	10.483	0.0000			
2 · · ·					

Degrees of Freedom - Between = 4 Within = 1570

an awareness of potential criminal opportunities that may not be influenced by the accessibility of street networks for some types of crime. For a crime like bicycle theft, which is probably committed by very young juveniles, it is not suprising that it displays spatial patterning that is different from other property crimes. The distribution of bicycles in the physical environment may also contribute to this anomaly. Bicycles will tend to be found in areas where children congregate (e.g., parks and schools) and this distribution of targets may bear no direct relation to the accessibility of streets.

Although Table 8 shows statistically significant relationships for all the property crimes studied, except for bicycle theft, the directional relationship between accessibility and crime has not yet been explored. The group means of each property crime (see Tables A.9 to A.15 of the Appendix) again show a distinct pattern, with the exception being bicycle theft. It appears that as street accessibility increases the number of reported property crimes also increases. To show this trend the group means of each property crime were plotted against the number of turnings and Pearson product-moment correlations were calculated. Table 9 summarizes the results of this correlational analysis. As can be seen from Table 9, there is almost a perfect linear relationship between the accessibility measure and property crime. Figure 7 graphically depicts this reationship for the variable CR.TOTAL.

# Table 9

#### PEARSON CORRELATION

.

TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND CRIME

Type of Crime	r	2 R	Significance
BICYCLE THEFT	.07510	.00564	.45223
AUTO THEFT	.89466	.80042	.02019
THEFT FROM AUTO	.95327	.90873	.00602
PROPERTY THEFT	.98462	.96947	.00114
WILFUL DAMAGE	.93659	.87721	.00949
BREAK & ENTER	.97030	.94149	.00306
TOTAL CRIME	.97126	.94335	.00291

Figure #7

NUMBER OF TURNINGS BY TOTAL CRIME



#### Simultaneous Effects of Accessibility and Street Flow

So far the separate statistical analyses have shown that there is a statistically significant association between property erime and the variables of accessibility and street flow. In order to evaluate street accessibility and street flow concurrently, as predictors of property crime at an individual street segment level, a two-way analysis of variance was performed.<sup>6</sup> Tables A.17 and A.18 of the Appendix show the results. Both factors had a statistically significant linear relationship with property crime at a street segment level. In addition there was also a significant two-way interaction between the two factors. Those blocks with both high accessibility and a high street flow volume have a

disproportionately greater amount of property crime. The

<sup>5</sup>In the next section a multiple regression analysis was performed. An examination of the residuals from this analysis showed that its normal distribution was guite leptokurtic. Upon investigation it was discovered that this peakedness was caused 🔩 by the large number of street segments that had no crime on them (refer back to Table 8). To correct for this peakedness all those segments with no buildings on them were dropped from any future analysis. The rationale for this decision was that street segments with no opportunities should have no crime. A one-way analysis of variance confirmed this hypothesis (F-ratio = 20.346, F-prob = 0.0000) as those blocks with no opportunities averaged only 0.41 crimes per segment while those segments with at least one building average 2.2 crimes per segment. (The technical aspects of this analysis are contained in Table A.16 of the Appendix). The deletion of these 203 segments, that had no buildings on them, greatly reduced the peakedness of the residual distribution. The two-way analysis of variance that is being discussed above was performed after dropping out these buildingless segments.

predictive power of this model is relatively low as very little of the variation in the crime rate is explained at the individual block level by these two factors (R = 0.147). Furthermore, since no other variables were used in this analysis the relative strength of these two factors, limited as it is, could still be the result of other confounding variables.

In order to develop a stronger predictive model and to control for the possible effects of mitigating variables an analysis of covariance was performed. The question that then arises is what variables does one choose as covariates given the large number of independent variables available in the environmental data set? To try every combination of covariates to obtain the best predictive model is not possible.<sup>7</sup> To resolve this problem a stepwise multiple regression analysis was first used to find a strong combination of independent variables that predicted the amount of property crime on each street segment.<sup>8</sup> This combination of variables was then used in an analysis of covariance to assess the influence that these opportunity variables had on the two factors of accessibility and street <sup>7</sup>The statistical package that was used, SPSS, has a limitation of accepting up to only five covariates in a single analysis.

<sup>8</sup>The stepwise procedure was used here because there was no a priori reason for ordering the opportunity variables. A forward stepwise procedure was used with inclusion levels. The order of inclusion is determined by the respective contribution of each variable, based upon the partial F's, to the explained variance. The maximum number of independent variables that could be entered into the equation was set at five; a minimum partial F-ratio for any given variable to enter into the equation was set at F=5.0; and a minimum tolerance level was set guite high at t=.75 to reduce the effects of multicollinearity.

#### Multiple Regression Model

The use of multiple regression in this study serves several functions. First, it was used to find a strong combination of variables that can be used as covariates in an analysis of covariance. In this sense it contributed to the evaluation of two major factors of interest (accessibility and street flow) by controlling for confounding variables. Second, it was used to find the linear prediction equation that "best" predicts the amount of property crime on any individual street segment using environmental variables. Third, it was used to hopefully uncover some structural relations in the data which might lead to explanations for seemingly complex multivariate relationships. A regression model was developed using five of the independent opportunity variables. The technical aspects of this model are contained in Tables A.19 and A.20 of the Appendix. The model explained almost seventy percent of the variance (R = .687). The five variables that entered into the regression equation were:

<sup>9</sup>Multiple regression could be used instead of anaylsis of covariance, since the two approaches are statistically equivalent, by converting the two factors of street accessibility and street flow into dummy variables. This procedure was not used because it would require the creation of twenty-nine dummy variables; five for street accessiblity, four for street flow, and twenty for their interaction effect.

- 1. TAX33 the number of commercial establishments on each block.
- 2. TAX32 the average improvement value of transfent accomodations on each block.
- 3. HI.SCH a dummy variable: whether or not there was a high school on a street segment.
- 4. TAX12 the average improvement value of any apartments on each block.
- 5. TAX9 the number of apartment buildings on each block.

#### Analysis of Covariance

In the two-way analysis of variance it was shown that the independent variables of street accessibility and street flow had a statistically significant linear relationship with reported crime. To assess this relationship using statistical controls a multiple regression analysis was performed to find a strong combination of variables. These five variables (TAX33, TAX32, HI.SCH, TAX12, AND TAX9) were then used in an analysis of covariance to help to statistically control for environmental characteristics in the analysis of accessibility and street flow.

In an analysis of covariance the researcher has the choice of entering into the equation the factors first or the covariates first or both of them simultaneously. In this study since the factors are causally prior to the covariates, on a

theoretical level, the two factors were entered into the equation first. Before criminals can select specific opportunities they must first travel to a specific location. The accessibility and street flow variables are indicators of popular routes. Travel along these routes must come causally prior to the selection of opportunities by criminals. Opportunity variables, which reflect the number and attractiveness of potential targets, were entered into the model after the two factors. By entering the factors into the model before the covariates the overall strength of the model does not change. By entering the two factors into the model first they are given the chance to explain as much of the variance as possible. When the covariates are entered into the model these new variables adjust for the variation that was solely attributed to the two factors.

The covariance model that was developed can be seen in Table 10. In this model both street accessibility and street flow are statistically significant at a .000 level. There is also a significant interaction effect between the two factors. Table 11 shows the multiple classification analysis. In this model the two factors account for 14.7% of the variance. While the covariates account for the majority of the variance in the model (54.6%) the two factors cannot be easily dismissed as being unimportant. Overall the covariance model explains 69.3% of the variance which is quite high for a model based upon such a low level of aggregation.

# Table 10

# ANALYSIS OF COVARIANCE ACCESSIBILITY VS. STREET FLOW

(factors before) the covariates)

***************************************					
SOURCE OF VARIATION	SUMS OF SQUARES	DF	MEAN SQUARE	ዮ	SIGNIF OF F
*****	*****	*****	*****	******	*****
MAIN EFFECTS TURNS FLOW	6085.379 807.312 4406.695	7 4 3	869.340 201.828 1468.898	99.124 23.013 167.487	0.000 0.000 0.000
COVARIATES TAX33 TAX32 HI.SCH TAX12 TAX9	22541.297 5859.742 8640.477 3390.412 1731.163 1644.802	5 1 1 1 1	4508.258 5859.742 8640.477 3390.412 <b>17</b> 31.163 1644.802	514.042 668.142 985.208 386.583 197.391 187.544	0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
2-WAY INTERACTION EXPLAINED	863.406 29490.082	11 23	78.491 1282.177	8.950 146.197	0.000
RESIDUAL TOTAL	11822.242 41312.324	1349 1371	8.770		

\*\*\*\*\*

\*\*\*\*\*

# Table 11

# MULTIPLE CLASSIFICATION ANALYSIS ACCESSIBILITY VS. STREET FLOW

GRAND MEAN = 2.20         VARIABLE AND CATEGORY N       ADJUSTED DEV'N       ADJUSTED INDEPENDENTS DEV'N       ADJUSTED FOR INDEPENDENTS DEV'N       ADJUSTED FOR ND COVARIATES DEV'N         TURNS       2       269 $-1.25$ $-0.72$ $-0.42$ 3       229 $-0.64$ $-0.18$ $-0.11$ 4       482 $-0.13$ $-0.26$ $0.15$ 5       289 $0.80$ $0.39$ $0.15$ 6       103 $3.07$ $2.43$ $0.22$ 0.20 $0.14$ $0.04$ FLOW       1 $1143$ $-0.68$ $-0.62$ $-0.15$ 2       119 $1.46$ $1.27$ $0.68$ 3 $67$ $2.90$ $2.50$ $0.69$ 4       43 $9.61$ $9.12$ $1.12$ 0.36 $0.33$ $0.06$ $0.932$	*****	*****	****	*****	*****	*****	****	*****
VARIABLE       ADJUSTED       FOR         AND       UNADJUSTED       INDEPENDENTS       AND COVARIATES         CATEGORY       DEV'N       ETA       DEV'N       BETA       DEV'N       BETA         TURNS       2       269       -1.25       -0.72       -0.42       AND COVARIATES         3       229       -0.64       -0.18       -0.11       BETA       DEV'N BETA         4       482       -0.13       -0.26       0.15       0.22       0.15         5       289       0.80       0.39       0.15       0.22       0.04         6       103       3.07       2.43       0.22       0.04         FLOW       1       1143       -0.68       -0.62       -0.15       0.28         3       67       2.80       2.50       0.69       0.44       0.06         4       43       9.61       9.12       1.12       0.693       0.06         4       43       9.61       9.12       0.147       0.693         MULTIPLE R       SQUARED       1       0.147       0.693       0.922	GRAND N	1EAN =	2.20		<b>6</b>		• <u>*</u>	
VARIABLE AND CATEGORY N       UNADJUSTED DEV'N       ADJUSTED FOR INDEPENDENTS DEV'N       ADJUSTED FOR INDEPENDENTS DEV'N       ADJUSTED FOR INDEPENDENTS DEV'N       ADJUSTED FOR INDEPENDENTS DEV'N       ADJUSTED FOR INDEPENDENTS AND COVARIATES DEV'N         TURNS       2       269 $-1.25$ $-0.72$ $-0.42$ 3       229 $-0.64$ $-0.18$ $-0.11$ 4       482 $-0.13$ $-0.26$ $0.15$ 5       289 $0.80$ $0.39$ $0.15$ 6       103 $3.07$ $2.43$ $0.22$ 0.20 $0.14$ $0.04$ FLOW $1$ $143$ $-0.68$ $-0.62$ $-0.15$ 2 $119$ $1.46$ $1.27$ $0.68$ $0.69$ 4 $43$ $9.61$ $9.12$ $1.12$ $0.06$ $MULTIPLE R$ SQUARED $1$ $0.147$ $0.693$ MULTIPLE R $0.294$ $0.924$ $0.923$	*******	*****	*****	*****	******	******	: *******	******
TURNS $2$ $269$ $-1.25$ $-0.72$ $-0.42$ 3 $229$ $-0.64$ $-0.18$ $-0.11$ 4 $482$ $-0.13$ $-0.26$ $0.15$ 5 $289$ $0.80$ $0.39$ $0.15$ 6 $103$ $3.07$ $2.43$ $0.22$ 0.20 $0.14$ $0.04$ FLOW $1143$ $-0.68$ $-0.62$ $-0.15$ 2 $119$ $1.46$ $1.27$ $0.68$ 3 $67$ $2.90$ $2.50$ $0.69$ 4 $43$ $9.61$ $9.12$ $1.12$ 0.36 $0.33$ $0.06$	VARIABLE AND CATEGORY	E Z N	UNADJU DEV ' N	STED ETA	ADJUST INDEPE DEV'N	ED FOR NDENTS BETA	ADJUSTE INDEPEN AND COV DEV'N	D FOR IDENTS VARIATES BETA
TURNS       2 $269$ $-1.25$ $-0.72$ $-0.42$ 3 $229$ $-0.64$ $-0.18$ $-0.11$ 4 $482$ $-0.13$ $-0.26$ $0.15$ 5 $289$ $0.80$ $0.39$ $0.15$ 6 $103$ $3.07$ $2.43$ $0.22$ 0.20 $0.14$ $0.04$ FLOW       1 $1143$ $-0.68$ $-0.62$ $-0.15$ 2 $119$ $1.46$ $1.27$ $0.68$ 3 $67$ $2.90$ $2.50$ $0.69$ 4 $43$ $9.61$ $9.12$ $1.12$ 0.36 $0.33$ $0.06$	******	*****	*****	*****	*****	******	******	******
100005       2 $269 - 1.25 - 0.72 - 0.42$ 3 $229 - 0.64 - 0.18 - 0.11$ 4 $482 - 0.13 - 0.26 - 0.15$ 5 $289 - 0.80 - 0.39 - 0.15$ 6 $103 - 0.68 - 0.62 - 0.14 - 0.04$ 1 $1143 - 0.68 - 0.62 - 0.15$ 2 $119 - 1.46 - 1.27 - 0.68$ 3 $67 - 2.90 - 2.50 - 0.69$ 4 $43 - 9.61 - 9.12 - 1.12$ 0.36 - 0.33 - 0.06	MUDNC							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10000	269	-1 25		-0 72		-0 42	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2	209	-0 64		-0.18		-0.11	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4	482	-0.13		-0.26		0.15	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	5	289	0.80		0.39	·	0.15	
0.20 0.14 0.04 FLOW 1 1143 -0.68 -0.62 -0.15 2 119 1.46 1.27 0.68 3 67 2.90 2.50 0.69 4 43 9.61 9.12 1.12 0.36 0.33 0.06 MULTIPLE R SQUARED 1 0.693 MULTIPLE R SQUARED 1 0.693 0.20	6	103	3.07		2.43		0.22	
FLOW       1       1143 $-0.68$ $-0.62$ $-0.15$ 2       119       1.46       1.27       0.68         3       67       2.80       2.50       0.69         4       43       9.61       9.12       1.12         0.36       0.33       0.06         MULTIPLE R SQUARED         MULTIPLE R       SQUARED       10.147       0.693         0.324       0.932       0.932       0.932				0.20		0.14		0.04
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	FLOW				, î <sup>*</sup>	•		
2 119 1.46 1.27 0.68 3 67 2.90 2.50 0.69 4 43 9.61 9.12 1.12 0.36 0.33 0.06 MULTIPLE R SQUARED 10.147 0.693 MULTIPLE R SQUARED 10.147 0.693 0.394 0.932	1	1143	-0.68		-0.62		-0.15	·
3 67 2.80 2.50 0.69 4 43 9.61 9.12 1.12 0.36 0.33 0.06 MULTIPLE R SQUARED 10.147 0.693 MULTIPLE R SQUARED 0.294 0.932	2	119	1.46		1.27		0.68	•.
4 43 9.61 9.12 1.12 0.36 0.33 0.06 ***********************************	3	67	2.90		2.50		0.69	
0.36 0.33 0.06	4	43	9.61		9.12		1.12	
MULTIPLE R SQUARED 6.693				0.36		0.33		0.06
MULTIPLE R SQUARED 1 0.147 0.693	******	*****	*****	*****	* * * * * * *	*****	******	******* ~
	MULTIPI		OUARED		ſ	0.147		0.693
0.304  0.032	MULTIPI	LE R				0.384		0.832
		V	4					
*******************	******	*****	*****	*****	*****	******	******	******
					t,			
					7	2		

The results of this analysis of covariance are descriptively displayed in Table 11. This multiple classification analysis (MCA) table shows how the mean of each category, for the two factors, was effected when the covariates were used as statistical controls. The mean of each category is expressed as deviations from the grand mean (2.20 property crimes per block). By examining the first column of unadjusted means one can see a distinct pattern. As accessibility and street flow increase, so does the amount of property crime. The street accessibility measure (TURNS) shows that blocks that have only two turnings average .95 reported property crimes (2.20 minus 1.25) while at the other end of the spectrum, blocks with six turnings average 5.27 reported property crimes (2.20 plus 3.07). The volume of traffic measure (FLOW) likewise shows the same linear pattern as the amount of reported property crime ranges from 1.52, for the lowest volume flows, to 11,81 for the highest volume flows. This table is useful in showing the relation between the factors and the covariates in a descriptive fashion but does not provide accurate coefficients for a predictive equation because of the weak interaction effect between the two factors. The effects of the two factors on one another can be seen in the second column that adjusts for the influence of the other factor. Note the changes in these values: the effect of each factor reduces the value of the other factor. Although the variation is reduced, the ordinal pattern produced by both factors is still maintained. That is, as street

accessibility or street flow increases so does the amount of reported property crime. This, of course, is consistent with a weak interaction effect.

The third column in the MCA table controls for the effects of the five covariates. The two factors still maintain the same linear pattern although each group's deviation from the grand mean is greatly reduced. The street accessibility measure (TURNS) ranges from 1.78 property crimes, for blocks with two turnings, to 2.42 property crimes, for blocks with six turnings. The street flow measure (FLOW) ranges from 2.05, for the lowest street volume flow, to 3.32, for the highest street volume flow. This third column shows that once the confounding influence of the covariates is controlled that there is little substantial difference between the different street segment types.

#### Discussion of the Statistical Analysis

The three strongest variables from the covariate and regression models were the number of commercial establishments (TAX33), the average improvement value of transient accomodations on each block (TAX32), and the presence of a high school (HI.SCH). These three variables accounted for 59.6% of the variance in the regression model. Having accounted for these three variables very little of the variance was explained by other variables. As seen from the analysis of covariance, the main factors under study contributed very little to the

explanatory power of the model. By examining the nature of these three covariates it is not suprising that the two factors unique contributions to the covariance model was quite small.

Many commercial businesses and transient accomodations<sup>10</sup> are located on highly accessible street segments with high volumes of traffic.<sup>11</sup> The location of these buildings on highly accessible streets is an ultimate confounding problem that cannot be handled in an <u>ex post facto</u> design. By controlling for these covariates the unique contribution, to the overall variance, decreases for the accessibility measures. In essence, high commercial activity is indirectly another measure of accessibility. It is also interesting to note just how strong the dummy variable, HI.SCH, was in the regression and covariate models especially when one considers that there were only four high schools in the study area. The fact that this variable entered so strongly into the models means that there was a lot

 $10^{-10}$  This variable, TAX32, indicates that there is some form of a transient accomodation on the street segment. Since this variable was chosen instead of the number of transient accomodations on each street segment (TAX29) it indicates that the improvement value reflects some value other than the presence or absence of this building type. A correlation of .9518 between the CR.TOTAL and TAX29 (this correlation is only for those blocks that have this building type) shows that the larger the improvement value of the transient accomodation the greater the amount of reported property crime on each segment. Most likely the improvement value of each transient accomodation reflects the size of the building. The more rooms the building has the greater its capacity for billeting transients. The larger hotels also have drinking establishments which may account for the strong correlation between property crime and these transient accomodations.

<sup>11</sup>This is not likely a suprise to most city planners or business entrepreneurs.

of property crime associated with those blocks that have high schools. The ensuing discussion will highlight this observation.

The regression model developed in this study did more than provide variables to act as statistical controls for the analysis of covariance. The fact that a very strong regression mode' could be built at such a low level of aggregation indicates that property crime follows very distinct patterns. It is the interpretation and explanation of these patterns that will add to the understanding of the crime phenomenon.

By using the three best predictors from the regression model, 59.6% of the variance can be explained. Table A.21 of the Appendix contains the technical aspects of this analysis. To illustrate the linear dependence that property crime has on these three independent variables the following predictive equation was produced.<sup>12</sup>

Y' = 1.41 + 2.23(TAX33) + .0000880(TAX32) + 29.0(HI.SCH)\*Using the standard error (o = 3.49), a 99 percent

confidence interval (t = 2.33) can be constructed around each estimate.

Y' + (t x o) = Y' + 2.33(3.49) = Y' + 8.12

The value Y' is the predicted amount of property crime on a street segment in a one year time span. Given the hypothetical composition of street segments, as in Figure 8, the amount of

<sup>12</sup>The partial regression coefficients are not from the original regression model. The values for the coefficients in this predictive equation come from a model that used only these three variables; see Table A.21 of the Appendix for the technical details.

property crime that will occur on them can be estimated from the predictive equation. The examples provided in Figure 9 point out some interesting observations. If a street segment does not have any commercial units, transient accomodation, or a high school on it, as in examples 5 and 6, then the predicted amount of property crime is 1.41 (the constant in the equation). According to this model, a street segment without these opportunities, such as example 5, is at the same risk as a residential segment, such as example 6. This model predicts that a street segment with a zero value for the three independent variables is at a relatively low risk of having any property crime occur on it. The first four examples give the model predictions of the amount of reported property crime for any street segments containing commercial units, transient accomodations, or high schools.

The results of the regression model show promise for calculating opportunities at risk in the future. However, the data set for the purposes of this study was constructed to examine street segments as the unit of observation and not specific types of opportunities at risk. If an analysis of opportunities was to be done the data should be re-aggregated according to the types of opportunities. Even at this extremely low lavel of aggregation it is still possible to fall into the ecological fallacy. Although high rates of property crime were associated with blocks that had high schools, transient accomodations or commercial units, this does not mean that the crimes occurred at those specific places.

Example 1 - 1 high school Y' = 1.41 + 2.23(0) + .0000880(0) + 29.0(1) + 8.12= 30.41 + 8.12 property crimes Example 2 - 1 commercial unit  $Y_1^{\prime} = 1.41 + 2.23(1) + .0000880(0) + 29.0(0) + 8.12$ = 3.64 + 8.12 property crimes Example 3 - 9 commercial units Y' = 1.41 + 2.23(9) + .0000880(0) + 29.0(0) + 8.12= 21.47 + 8.12 property crimes Example 4 - 1 transient accomodation (improvement value = \$240,000)and 4 commercial units Y' = 1.41 + 2.23(4) + .0000880(240000) + 29.0(0) + 8.12= 31.45 + 8.12 property crimes Example 5 - No buildings Y' = 1.41 + 2.23(0) + .0000880(0) + 29.0(0) + 8.12= 1.41 + 8.12 property crimes Example 6 - 10 mobile homes, 16 single family units and 3 duplexes Y' = 1.41 + 2.23(0) + .0000880(0) + 29.0(0) + 8.12= 1.41 + 8.12 property crimes

The crimes may have occurred at apartments or single family homes on these blocks. The data set was not constructed to identify specific targets although it could be modified to do so at a later stage. In order to avoid the ecological fallacy, one might better consider the opportunity variables as criminogenic magnets rather than as specific targets. These independent variables draw people, including the criminal population, towards them

and any opportunities on those street segments could be acted upon.<sup>13</sup> The importance of the statistical findings will be discussed in light of the theoretical implications drawn from the literature in the concluding chapter.

R

<sup>13</sup>When discussing criminals in this thesis it has not been the intention of the author to perpetuate the dualistic fallacy; that there are "good guys" and "bad guys" and never the twain shall meet. It is well recognized from the abundance of self-report literature that we all dabble in some forms of deviance at some points in our lifes. The term "criminal" is only used in the context of identifying those individuals that have the motivation to commit crimes at specific times and locations.

#### III. CONCLUSIONS

#### Methodological Considerations

It was pointed out in the discussion of the research design that the greatest limitation of this study was its <u>ex post facto</u> nature. This weaknesses has already been discussed; however, there are still a few methodological considerations that need to be expanded.

One of the concerns at the onset of this study was the conceptualization of some of the independent variables. Many of the independent variables used to measure the complexity of street networks were of a very crude nature. Street network complexity was measured at an individual street segment level, without any consideration of the interconnectivity of these units. While such an analysis was beyond the scope of this study, it cannot be overlooked as a major shortcoming. Understanding the interconnectivity of street segments is an important step in tracing the actual paths that property offenders travel, during both their regular activity patterns and during the commission of their crimes. It would be interesting to examine how vulnerable opportunities are in relation to the home location of property offenders. Such a relation would depend on such factors as distance, relative
accessibility, and an awareness by the property offender of the opportunity.

It is an encouraging sign that the crude measures of segment accessibility and street flow (volume of traffic) showed significant relationships, although substantively weak, with different types of property crime. The crudity of the measures employed works against the predictive power of the models, as it contributes to the error component. It is likely that the strength of the linear relation between property crime and the two factors, accessibility and street flow, would increase as more sophisticated measures are employed.

#### General Considerations

The results of this study demonstrated that opportunities are at different risks in the environment depending upon their spatial location. It was shown that opportunities have a greater likelihood of being exploited if they are on relatively accessible street segments and frequently travelled streets. These observations support the theoretical supposition stance that property offenders commit crimes within their regular activity spaces.

In addition, substantively strong relationships were found between property crime and specific types of opportunities located on street segments. The explanatory power provided by the opportunity variables shows great promise for developing

crime prevention stategies. In implementing crime prevention stategies, consideration must be given to the cost benifits to be derived. Given limited resources, to implement a crime prevention program, priority should be given to those areas that can receive the greatest benefit. There is no merit in changing the physical structure of potential opportunities, in order to reduce crime, if they are not at risk. A spatial crime-opportunity model can help identify those opportunities or areas that will have a high probability of being exploited. Once these high risk opportunites are identified, architectural design modifications can be attempted. Whether or not design modifications can be implemented that are successful at abating crime remains to be seen. The more interesting theoretical question is whether crime would be displaced, rather than abated. In order to answer this question, any architectural modifications to the environment, for the purposes of crime prevention, should incorporate an evaluation component into the design process.

ł

# TABLE A.1

# TYPES OF ITEMS STOLEN FROM AUTOMOBILES

Type of Item Stolen	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency		
Gas	26	5.08		
Wheels	47	9.0		
Tapedeck/radio	113	21.7		
Tools	39	7.5		
Engine parts	86	16.5		
Car accessories	64	12.3		
Personal Belongings	58	11.1		
License Plates	42	8.1		
Other	46	8.8		
TOTAL (n=364)	521 *	100.0%		
TOTAL VALUE OF ITEM	S STOLEN = \$7	78,463.00		
AVERAGE VALUE	. <b>_</b>	215.56		

\*The total exceeds the actual number of cases as multiple thefts of objects were recorded.

# TABLE A.2

₹

ŧ,Ľ

I	-	2
Type of Item Stolen	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency
Cash	192	22.18
Jewellery	59	6.8
Electronic Items	- 117	13.4
Tools	43	4.9
Food or liquor	85	9.7
Other	124	14.2
Nothing	252	28.9
TOTAL (n=428)	872 *	100.0
TOTAL VALUE OF ITEMS	S STOLEN = \$22	6,101.00
AVERAGE VALUE	•	528.00
·		

#### TYPES OF ITEMS STOLEN DURING BURGLARIES

\*The total exceeds the actual number of cases as multiple thefts of objects were, recorded.

TABLE	Α.	3
-------	----	---

TYPES OF ITEMS STOLEN FOR OTHER PROPERTY THEFTS

Type of Item Stolen	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency		
Cash	42	7.78		
Jewellery	15	2.7		
Electronic Items	29	5.2		
Tools	43	7.7		
Food or liquor	28	5.0		
Wallets	53	9.6		
Purses	34	6.1		
Pets or animals	18	3.2		
Other	293	52 <b>.</b> 8 *		
TOTAL (n=531)	555 **	100.0		
TOTAL VALUE OF PROD	PERTY = \$220,9	91.00		
AVERAGE VALUE	= 5	23.68		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				

\*As can be seen from the large percentage of items that were classified as "other", the typology clearly needs to be expanded to accomodate the diverse range of items that were commonly stolen.

\*\*The total exceeds the actual number of cases as multiple thefts of objects were recorded.

TABLE A.4

TYPES OF DAMAGES THAT OCCURRED FOR CASES OF VANDALISM

Type of Damage	Absolute Frequency	Relative Frequency
Graffiti	37	3.48
Windows	366	33.2
Doors	, 66	6.0
Fgnces	52	4.7
Arson	19	1.7
Automobiles	337	30.6
Lawns	21	1.9
Lights	49	4.4
Other	155	14.1
TOTAL (n=716)	1102 *	100.0
TOTAL VALUE OF DAMA	GE = \$156,	139.00
AVERAGE LOSS	=	218.07

\*The total exceeds the actual number of cases as multiple damages were recorded.

ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

2

#### TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CURVED AND STRAIGHT STREET SEGMENTS

	$\bigcirc$				、		
	SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.	
	BETWEEN GROUPS	1	0.1876	0.1876	0.007	0.9350	-
Ŀ	WITHIN GROUPS	1573	44378.1699	28.2124		-	
 ,	TOTAL	1574	44378.3555			ڼ	

,		ζ		STANDARD	STANDARD
	GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	DEVIATION	ERROR
	CURVED	199	1.9397	4.1931	. 0.2972
	STRAIGHT	1376	1.9724	5.4537	0.1470
	TOTAL	1575	1.9683	5.3099	0.1338

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

#### TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DEAD ENDS AND CUL-DE-SACS

	<del>ره</del> ۱۰ ۳۰	n an		
SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN F RATIO SQUARES	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUI	PS l	0.0146	0.0146 0.003	0.9597
WITHIN GROUPS	5 324	1855.5535	5.7270	
ŤOTAL	325	1855.5679	۰۰ <del>س</del> ور ۲۰	
				۵
GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	STANDARD ERROR
CUL-DE-SAC	60	0.9000	2.1683	0.2799
DEAU END	200	0.9173	2.4403	0.1496

0.9141

2.3894

0.1323

TOTAL

326

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DEAD ENDS AND CUL-DE-SACS VS. GRID STREET SEGMENTS

SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUPS	1 1573	456.8099 43921.5156	456.8099 27.9221	16.360	0.0001 -
TOTAL	1574	44378.3242			

GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	STANDARD ERROR
OTHER GRID	326 1249	0.9141 2.2434	2.3894 5.8057	0.1323 0.1643
TOTAL	1575	1.9683	5.3099	0.1338

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

#### TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN STREET FLOW AND TOTAL CRIME

SOURCE	D.F.	SUM'OF SQUARES	MEAN F SQUARES	RATIO F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUP	<b>PS</b> 3.	5460.5458	1820.1819 7	3.475 0.0000
WITHIN GROUPS	S 1571	38917.9346	24.7727	
TOTAL	1574	44378.4766		· · · · ·
			CULATON	
GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	DEVIATIO	N ERROR
FEEDERS	1337	1.3575	3 - 372	7 0,0922
MINOR ARTERIES	126	3 4921	6.387	0 5690
MAJOR ARTERIES	68	4 9265	6.887	8 0.8353
HIGHWAY	44	11.5909	18.950	7 2.8569
TOTAL	1575	1.9683	5.,3099	9 0.1338
SCHEFFE PROCEI	DURE - RANG	GES FOR THE	0.05 LEVEL	
		GGGG		
	,	RRRR		
		РРРР		
MEAN	GROUP	1 2 3 4	· ·	
1.3575	GRP 1			
3.4921	GRP2	*		
4.9265	GRP 3	*		
11.5909	GRP4	* • *	Q	
J 				
(*) Denotes nai	ire of arou	me eignifig	-antly	

Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the 0.05 level

ũ

#### ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

#### TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND BICYCLE THEFT

SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUPS	4	8.9939	2.2485	1.570	0.1799
WITHIN GROUPS	1570	2248.9580	1.4325		• .
TOTAL	1574	2257.9517		· .	

GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDÁRD DEVIATION	STANDARD ERROR
GRP2	307	0.1629	~0.6856	0.0391
GRP 3	268	0.4104	2.3117	0.1412
GRP4	537	0.2533	0.8826	0.0381
GRP5	328	0.2744	0.7962	0.0440
GRP6	135	0.2519	0.6315	0.0544
TOTAL	1575	0.2667	1.1977	0.0302

SCHEFFÉ PROCEDURE - ranges for the 0.05 level

- NO TWO GROUPS ARE SIGNIFICANTLY DIFFERENT AT THE 0.050 LEVEL

PEARSON CORRELATION - - accessiblity by bicycle theft (mean averages) correlation (r) - 0.07510 R - 0.00564 significance - 0.45223

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

# TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND AUTO THEFT

.

D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.
4	6.1380	1.5345	6.545	0.0000
1570	368.0939	0.2345		c
1574	374.2317		н.	
	D.F. 4 1570 1574	D.F. SUM OF SQUARES 4 6.1380 1570 368.0939 1574 374.2317	D.F. SUM OF MEAN SQUARES MEAN 4 6.1380 1.5345 1570 368.0939 0.2345 1574 374.2317	D.F. SUM OF SQUARES MEAN F RATIO 4 6.1380 1.5345 6.545 1570 368.0939 0.2345 1574 374.2317

			STANDARD	STANDARD
GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	DEVIATION	ERROR
GRP2	307	0.0261	0.2543	0.0145
GRP 3	268	0.0448	0.2557	0.0156
GRP4	537	0.0596	0.2868	0.0124
GRP5	328	0.1129	0.4095	0.0226
GRP6	135	0.2593	1.3156	0.1132
TOTAL	1,575	0.0787	0.4876	0.0123

140.

### Table A.10 continued

SCHEFFE PROCEDURE - RANGES FOR THE 0.05 LEVEL

MEAN	GROUP	G G G G G R R R R R P P P P P 2 3 4 5 6
.0261	GRP2	
.0448	GRP 3	
.0596	GRP4	
.1128	GRP 5	
.2593	GRP6	* * *

(\*) Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the 0.05 level

PEARSON CORRELATION -- accessiblity by auto theft (mean averages)

correlation (r) -0.99466 R -0.80042 significance -0.02019

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

### TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND THEFT FROM AUTO

.

SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUPS	. 4	36.7059	9.1765	7.208	0.0000
WITHIN GROUPS	1570	1998.7529	1.2731		
TOTAL	1574	2035.4587		• •	t s

GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	STANDARD ERROR
GRP2	307	0.1303	0.5852	0.0334
GRP 3	268	0.1567	0.6688	6 0.0409
GRP4	537	0.2235	0.7191	0.0310
GRP5	328	0.4512	0.3582	0.0750
GRP6	135	0.6074	0.5832	0.2223
		°)		
TOTAL	1575	St · 0.2743	1.1372	0.0287

#### Table A.11 continued

SCHEFFE PROCEDURE - RANGES FOR THE 0.05 LEVEL GGGGG R R R R R R PPPPP MEAN GROUP 23456 .1303 GRP2 .1567 GRP3 .2235 GRP4 .4512 GRP5 .6074 GRP6 (\*) Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the 0.05 level \_\_\_\_ PEARSON CORRELATION - accessiblity by theft from auto (mean averages) correlation (r) = 0.95327 R = 0.90873 significance - 0.00602

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

# TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND PROPERTY THEFT

					\
SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUP	s 4	27.2239	6.8060	6.665	0.0000
WITHIN GROUPS	1570	1603.2815	1.0212		
TOTAL	1574	1630.5054		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
1				• •	
GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANI DEVIAT	DARD ION	STANDARD ERROR
GRP2 GRP3	307 268	0.1531 0.2239	0.5	357 1536	0.0306 0.0521
GRP4 GRP5 GRP6	537 328 135	0.2961 0.4756 0.5630	0.9 1.1 1.8	872 780 228	0.0383 \ 0.0650 0.1569
TOTAL	1575	0.3162	1.0	178	0.0256
		,			



# Table A.12 continued

SCHEFFE	PRÓCEDI	JRE – RA	NGES	FO	R TF	IE _(	0.05	LEVEL
		$\sum$				¢		. <b>M</b>
				G (	GG	G		2
			Ř	R	RR	R		
	_		Р	PI	ΡP	Ρ	5	
ME	AN	GROUP	2	3 4	45	6	•	-
	1531	GRP2					Í	
	2239	GRP3		,			)	
•	2961	GRP4	3					
•	4756	GRP5	۳ <b>*</b>				<b>\</b>	
•	5630	GRP6	* *	*				

(\*) Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the 0.05 level

PEARSON CORRELATION -- accessiblity by property theft (mean averages)

correlation (r) -0.98462 R -0.96947 significance -0.00114

Ł

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

#### TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND WILFUL DAMAGE

SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUPS WITHIN GROUPS	4 1570	195.3934 7359.6951	48.8483	10.421	0.0000
TOTAL	1574	7555.0859		e **	

GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	STANDARD ERROR
GRP 2	307	0.1824	0.5935	0.0339
GRP 3	268	0.4366	1.4763	0.0902
GRP4	537	0.5531	1,6677	0.0720
GRP5	328	0.7927	1.8456	0.1019
GRP6	135	1.5481	5.5081	0.4741
TOTAL	1575	0.5962	2.1909	0.0552
<b>T</b> <sup>2</sup>				

#### Table A.13 continued

SCHEFFE PROCEDURE - RANGES FOR THE 0.05 LEVEL

		<b>\</b> \	G R P	G R P	G R P	G R P
MEAN	GROUP		?	3	4	5
.1824	GRP2					r
.4366	GRP 3					
.5531	GRP4					
.7927	GRP5		*			
1.5481	GRP6		*	٠	*	*

(\*) Denotes pairs of groups significantly
different at the 0.05 level

PEARSON CORRELATION - 5 - accessiblity by wilful damage (mean averages)

R

-correlation (r) - 0.93659 significance - 0.00949 7 0.87721

G

R P 6

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF WARIANCE

TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND BREAK AND ENTER

1

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUPS	4	47.6626	11.9157	9.735	0.0000
WITHIN GROUPS	1570	1921.6182	1.2240		
TOTAL	1574	1969.2808			

GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	STANDARD ERROR
GRP2	307	0 2182	0 7103	- 0.0405
GRP3	268	0.2500	0.7747	0.0473
GRP4	537	0.4935	1.0617	0.0458
GRP5	328	0.5488	1.0683	0.0590
GRP6	135	0.8000	2.1676	0.1866
TOTAL	1575	0.4362	1.137?	0.0282
	•			

#### Table A.14 continued --

SCHEFFE PROCEDURE - FANGES FOR THE 0.05 LEVEL

	ب • :	• .	G R P	G R P	G R P	G R P	G R P
MEAN	GROUP		2	3	4	5	6
		8					
.2182	GRP 2						
,2500	GRP 3						
.4935	GRP4		*				
.5488	GRP5		*	*			
.8000	GRP6		*	*			

(\*) Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the 0.05 level

PEARSON CORRELATION -- accessiblity by break & enter (mean averages)

correlation (r) = 0.97030 R = 0.94149 significance = 0.00306

2

#### ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

### TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ACCESSIBILITY AND TOTAL CRIME

SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN SQUARES	F RATIO	F PROB.	
 BETWEEN GROUPS	4	1154.4184	288.6045	10.483	0.0000	
WITHIN GROUPS	1570	43225.0254	27.5319			
 TOTAL	1574	44379.4414				

1

,

GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDARD DEVIATION	STANDARD ERROR
	-		J	
GRP2	307 😓	0.8730	2.0147	0.1150
GRP3	268	1.5224	4.8885	0.2986
GRP4	537	1.8790	4.1228	0.1779
GRP5	328	2.6555	4.9622	0.2740
GRP6	135	4.0296	11.7308	1.0096
TOTAL	1575	1.9683	5.3099	0.1338

#### Table A.15 continued

17 .00

SCHEFFE PROCEDURE - RANGES FOR THE 0.05 LEVEL

G G G G G R R R R R P P P P P GROUP 2 3 4 5 6

.1303	GRP 2	
.1567	GRP 3	
.2235	GRP4	
.4512	GRP5	*
.6074	GRP6	*

MEAN

(\*) Denotes pairs of groups significantly different at the 0.05 level

PEARSON CORRELATION -- accessiblity by total crime (mean averages)

correlation (r) - 0.97126 R - 0.94335 significance - 0.00291

# ONEWAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

# TESTS FOR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN STREET SEGMENTS WITH OPPORTUNITIES AND THOSE WITHOUT

				. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
SOURCE	D.F.	SUM OF SQUARES	MEAN F SQUARES	RATIO	F PROB.
BETWEEN GROUP	<b>5</b> ي ا	566.6720	566.6719 2	0.346	9.0000
WITHIN GROUPS	1573	43811.3821	27.8521		
TOTAL	1574	44378.0508	· ·		
				t	
	•		$\sim$		
GROUP	COUNT	MEAN	STANDAR DEVIATIO	D · N	STANDARD ERROR
NO OPP.	203	0.4089	3.517	3	0.2469
OPPORTUNITIES	1372	2.1990	5.489	4	0.1482
TOTAL	1575	1.9683	5.309	8	0.1338
٥	,				

#### TWO-WAY ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE ACCESSIBILITY VS. STREET FLOW

*****	******	*****	********	********	*******
SOURCE OF VARIATION	SUMS OF SQUARES	DF	MEAN SQUARE	F	SIGNIF OF F
MAIN EFFECTS	6085.379	7	869.340	38.772	0.000
TURNS	807.312	4	201.828	9.002	0.000
FLOW	4406.695	3	1468.898	65.513	0:000
	,				
2-WAY	1000 570			10.000	
INTERACTION	4890.578	ĻL	444.598	19.829	0.000
EXPLAINED	10975.957	19	609.775	27.196	0.000
			· · · ·	··· • • • •	•
RESIDUAL	30336.367	1353	22.422		
		*	<b>x</b>		•
TOTAL	41312.324	1371	30.133		;

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

. . . . . . .

N = 1.372 street segments

# MULTIPLE CLASSIFICATION ANALYSIS ACCESSIBILITY VS. STREET FLOW

*****	****	*****	*****

GRAND MEAN = 2.20

		-		÷		<u> </u>	L .			<b>.</b> .	<b>.</b> .	۰.				-	-	-	-		 <b>.</b>	 ۰.				-	-	غ	-	-	-	-	-	. ـ	<b>.</b>	<b>.</b> .	۰.	<b>.</b> .	۰.			L .		<b>.</b> .		-		÷		 	- <b>-</b>	. <b>.</b>
<b>R</b> R	<b>–</b>	×.	<b>ਸ</b> :	<b>ਸ</b> 1	<b>न</b> ा	<b>ਸ</b> 1	<b>T</b> 1	ਸ਼ਾ	<b>R</b> 7		<b>T</b> 7		<b>न</b> ः	<b>ਸ</b> :	π.	π.	π.	π	π	- <b>7</b>	 57		Π.	<b>#</b>	π.	<b>ж</b>	ਸ `			<b>R</b> 7		<b>#</b> 1	<b>T</b> 1		<b>R</b> 7		π.	π.	π.	<b>H</b> 1	. 7	 	r 78	( <b>H</b>								

A the second

VARIABLE AND		UNADJUS	red	ADJUSTED INDEPENDI	FOR
CATEGORY	N	DEV 'N	ETA	DEV 'N	BETA
*****	******	******	*******	******	******
TURNS					
2	269	-1.25	v	-0.72	
3	229	-0.64		-0.18	
4	492	-0.13		-0.26	
5	289	0.80		0.39	
6 .	103	3.07		2.43	
		·	0.20		0.14
FLOW .		î			
1	1143	-0.68		-0.62	
Ĵ	119	1.46		1.27	
3	67	2.80		2.50	
4	43	9.61		9.12	
			0.36		0.33
*****	******	~ * * * * * * * * * * *	* * * * * * * * * *	******	* * * * * * * * * *
MILTOTTOTE	2	ų		r,	0 147
	D				0 204
MOPITAPE	R				9.384
			`		

154

. .

۵

# MULTIPLE REGRESSION MODEL

~

الع معد

VARIABLE	SIMPLE R	MULTIE R		BETA	2 R
******	*****	******	******	*******	******
TAX32	.54269	.5426	59 4	47713	.29451
TAX33	.54251	.7176	68 .4	16132	.51506
HI.SCH	.28380	.7722		28569	.59642
TAX12	.24585	.8041	4 .3	21351	.64664
TAX9	.21916	.8286	9	20054	.68673
*****	****	*****	* * * * * * * *	******	* * * * * * * * *
ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE	SUMS OF SQUARES	DF S	MEAN QUARE	F	SIGNIF OF F
* * * * * * * * * * * *	*****	* * * * * * * *	*****	******	* * * * * * * * *
REGRESSION RESIDUAL	28371.97 12942.71	5 5	674.394 9.477	598.887	n.0000

- = =

# Table A.19 continued $_{\mu}$

# MULTIPLE REGRESSION MODEL

****	*****	*****	*****	***
VARIABLE	В	2 R	F	
*****	***********	*****	****	****
TAX32	0.883E-04	.29451	972.262	
TAX33	2.163	.51506	906.818	·
HI.SCH	29.077	.59642	355.887	
TAX12	0.153E-04	.64664	197.770	
TAX9	0.265	.68673	174.815	
(constant)	1.223			·

# MULTIPLE REGRESSION MODEL

(Correlation Matrix)

*	******	*****	******	*****	********	*****	•
ar. 1. a	VARIABLE	CR.TOTAL	TAX3-2	TAX33	HI.SCH	TAX12	
*	*****	*******	******	********	*******	*****	
	CR. TOTAL	1.00000					
	TAX32	0.54269	1.00000		<b>6</b> -'		
	TAX33	0.54251	0.14323	1.00000			
	HI.SCH	0.28380	-0.00265	-0.00037	1.00000		*
	TAX12	0.24585	0.00111	0.04610	-0.00141	1.00000	
	TAX9	0.21916	0.00002	0.01554	-0.00073	0.05456	
* :	*******	· * * * * * * * *	*******	********	********	******	

157

L

# MULTIPLE REGRESSION MODEL

********	*******	******	******	******	*******	*
VARIABLE	SIMPLE R	MULT R	IPLE	BETA	2 R	
**********	* * * * * * * * * * *	*****	******	*****	*****	**
TAX32	.54269	.54	269	.47548	.29451	
TAX33	.54251	.71	768	.47452	.51506	
HI.SCH	.28380	.77	228	.28524	.59642	
****	*****	*****	*****	*****	*****	*
ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE	SUMS OF SQUARES	DF	MEAN SQUARE	F	SIGNIF OF F	
******	*****	*****	******	*********	*****	*
REGRESSION RESIDUAL	24641.01 16673.67	. 3 1368	8213.67 12.18	0 67 <b>3.</b> 895 8	0.0000	
GTANDADD FDI	a = 2					

1.58

<

# Table A.21 continued

# MULTIPLE REGRESSION MODEL

*********				
VARIABLE	B	2 R	F	
****	****	*****	*****	
TAX32	0.880E-04	. 29451	750.616	
TAX33	2.225	.51506	747.583	
HI.SCH	29.032	.59642	275.794	
•(constant)	1.412	<b>,</b>		

6

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

 $\square$ 

List of Information Taken From Land Usuage Maps

TURNS - the accessibility measure which was shown in Figure 5. The number of turnings for each street segment ranged from one to six.

LENGTH - the length of each street segment was measured in feet. This variable was collected for two reasons. First, to see if the length of a street segment somehow affects a criminal's spatial awareness of targets. Second, this variable was used to develop a density measure (opportunities/length) to see if spatially isolated targets are more vulnerable.

TYPE - this variable identifies the stuctural type of each street segment: dead end, cul-de-sac, or grid. Since dead ends and cul-de-sacs are structurally less accessible than grids it is expected that there will be less crime on these blocks.

CURVES - many street segments are structurally different from others because they are curved. This variable was collected to see if the curvilinearity of street segments affect the spatial awareness or mobility patterns of property offenders. Street segments were identified as being either straight or curved.

- SFD the number of single family dwellings on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of  $\mathcal{F}$  opportuni<sup>+</sup> es.
- DUPLEX the number of duplexes on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of opportunities.
  - MOBILE the number of mobile homes on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of opportunities. APTS - the number of apartment buildings on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of opportunities.
  - UNITS the number of apartment units on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of opportunties.
  - CHANGE the number of building units built in the last year. This variable was determined by comparing the land usuage maps of the previous year to the present year. This variable was used as an indicator of transition zones which are often associated with high rates of crime. FLOW - street flow. This variable was a measure of the amount of traffic that travelled upon each street. It was based on a simple precode that the planning department had defined. Streets were classified as highways, major arteries, minor arteries, or feeders. Each street segment was classified on an ordinal scale from one to four depending upon its predefined street flow status.

- HI.SCH whether or not there was a high school on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of opportunities.
- ELEM.SCH whether or not there was a elementary school on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of opportunities.
  - PARKS whether or not there was a park on each street segment. This variable is an objective measure of opportunities.

LIST OF VARIABLES IN THE MASTER DATA SET

Variable Names	Definitions
ID	Segment identification number
NAME	Name of street (numeric identification)
LOW	Low address range of block segment
HIGH	High address range of block segment
LENGTH	Length of block segment in feet
TURNS	Accessibility measure
CURVES	Whether or not a street segment was straight
TYPE	Layout of street segment (dead end, cul-de-sac, or grid)
SFD	No. of single family dwellings (land usage maps)
DUPLEX	No. of duplexes (land usage maps)
APTS	No. of apartment buildings (land usage maps)
UNITS	No. of apartment units (land usage maps)
CHANGE	No. of building units built in the last year (land usage maps)
HI.SCH	Dummy variable: high school on segment
ELEM.SCH	Dúmmy variable: elementary school on segment
PARKS	Dummy variable: park on street segment
TAX1	No. of single family dwellings according to the tax assessment data
TAX?	Average square feet of single family dwellings according to the tax assessment data

Table A.23 continued

LIST OF VARIABLES IN THE MASTER DATA SET

.

Variable Names	Definitions
ТАХЗ	Average land value of single family dwellings according to the tax assessment data
TAX4	Average improvement value of single family dwellings according to the tax assessment data
TAX5	No. of duplexes according to the tax assessment data
TAX6	Average square feet of duplexes according to the tax assessment data
TAX7	Average land value of duplexes according to the tax assessment data
TAX8	Average improvement value of duplexes according to the tax assessment data
TAX9 ,	No. of apartments according to the tax assessment data
TAX10	Average square feet of apartments according to the tax assessment data
TAX11	Average land value of apartments according to the tax assessment data
TAX12	Average improvement value of apartments according to the tax assessment data
TAX13	No. of mobile homes according to the tax assessment data
TAX14	Average square feet of mobile homes according to the tax assessment data

ژ
a

LIST OF VARIABLES IN THE MASTER DATA SET  $\varsigma$ 

۰**ب** 

) Variable Names	Definitions
TAX15	Average land value of mobile homes according to the tax assessment data
, <b>TAX16</b>	Average improvement value of mobile homes according to the tax assessment data
TAX17	No. of civic buildings according to the tax assessment data
TAX18	Average square feet of civic buildings according to the tax assessment data
TAX19	Average land value of civic buildings according to the tax assessment data
TAX20	Average improvement value of civic buildings according to the tax assessment data
TAX21	No. of industrial sites according to the tax assessment data
TAX22	Average square feet of industrial sites according to the tax assessment data
TAX23	Average land value of industrial sites according to the tax assessment data
TAX24	Average improvement value of industrial sites according to the tax assessment data
TAX25	No. of vacant lots according to the tax assessment data
TAX26	Average square feet of vacant lots according to the tax assessment data

## LIST OF VARIABLES IN THE MASTER DATA SET

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Variable Names	Definitions
	, in the second s	0' 
	TAX27	Average land value of vacant lots according to the tax assessment data
	TAX28	Average improvement value of vacant lots according to the tax assessment data
	TAX29	No. of transient accomodations according to the tax assessment data
	TAX30	Average square feet of transient accomodations
	TAX31	Average land value of transient accomodations according to the tax assessment data
	TAX32	Average improvement value of transient accomo- dations according to the tax assessment data
	TAX33	No. of commercial establishments according to the tax assessment data
	TAX34	Average square feet of commercial establishments according to the tax assessment data
<b>5</b>	TAX35	Average land value of commercial establishments according to the tax assessment data
* 1 <u>2</u> >	TAX36	Average improvement value of commercial establish- ments according to the tax assessment data
	TAX37	No. of farms according to the tax assessment data
	TAX38	Average square feet of farms according to the tax assessment data

N -

#### LIST OF VARIABLES IN THE MASTER DATA SET

Variable Names	Definitions
TAX39	Average land value of farms according to the tax assessment data
TAX40	Average improvement value of farms according to the tax assessment data
CRIME1	No. of stolen bicycles at family dwellings
CRIME2	No. of stolen bicvcles at commercial establishments
CRIME3	No. of stolen bicycles at public places
CRIME4	No. of stolen bicycles at unknown or other places
CRIME5	No. of auto thefts at family dwellings
CRIME6	No. of auto thefts at commercial establishments
CRIME7	No. of auto thefts at public places
CRIME8	No. of auto thefts at unknown or other places
CRIME9	No. of thefts from autos at family dwellings
CRIME10	No. of thefts from autos at commercial establishments
CRIME11	No. of thefts from autos at public places
CRIME12	No. of thefts from autos at unknown or other places

#### LIST OF VARIABLES IN THE MASTER DATA SET

Variable Names	Definitions	
CRIME13	No. of property thefts at family dwellings	
CRIME14	No. of property thefts at commercial establishments	
CRIME15	No. of property thefs at public places	;
CRIME16	No. of property thefts at unknown or other places	×
CRIME17	No. of wilful damages at family dwellings	
CRIME18	No. of wilful damages at commercial establishments	
CRIME19	No. of wilful damages at public places	
CRIME20	No. of wilful damages at unknown or other places	
CRIME21 🎢	No. of break & enterings at family dwellings	
CRIME22	No. of break & enterings at commercial establishments	
CRIME23	No. of break & enterings at public places	,
CRIME24	No. of break & enterings at unknown or other places	

Adams, J.R. (1973) "Review of Defensible Space," Man-Environment Systems, 3:267-268.

Altman, I. (1975) <u>The Environment and Social Behavior.</u> (Belmont, California: <u>Wadsworth Pub.</u> Com., Inc.).

----- and Brown, B.B. (1981) "Territoriality and Residential Crime: A Conceptual Framework," pp.55-77 in Brantingham, P.J. and Brantingham, P.L. (eds.) Envrionmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications).

Angel, S. (1968)

Discouraging Crime Through City Planning. (Berkeley, California: Centre for Planning and Development Research, Working Paper No. 75).

Appleyard, D. (1969) "Why Buildings Are Known: A Predictive Tool For Architects and Planners," Environment and Behavior, 1:131-56.

----- and Lintell, M. (1972) "The Environmental Quality of City Streets: the Resident's Viewpoint," J. of Amer. Institute of Planners, pp.84-101.

Baldwin, J. and Bottoms, A.E. (1974) "Social Area Analysis and Studies of Delinquency," <u>Social</u> Science Research, 3:151-168.

----. (1976)

The Urban Criminal: A Study in Sheffield. (London: Tavistock).

Beavon, Daniel J.K. (1979)

A Critical Analysis of Crime Prevention Through Therapeutic Intervention. (Unpublished Manuscript. Honours Thesis: Criminology Department, S.F.U.).

Bevis, C. and Nutter, J.B. (1977)

Changing Street Layouts to Reduce Residential Burglary. (Paper presented at the annual meetings of the American Society of Criminology, Atlanta).

Blalock, H. (1961)

Causal Inferences in Nonexperimental Research. (Chapel Hill, N.C.: Univ. of N. Carolina Press).

Boggs, S.L. (1965) "Urban Crime Patterns," Amer. Soc. Review, 30:899-908. Bottoms, A.E. (1974) "Review of Defensible Space," Brit. J. of Criminology, 14:203-206. Brantingham, P.J. and Brantingham, P.L. (1975a) "The Spatial Patterning of Burglary," Howard J. of Penology and Crime Prevention, 14:11-24. Brantingham, P.L. and Brantingham, P.J. (1975b) "Residential Burglary and Urban Form," Urban Studies, 12:273-284. Brantingham, P.J. and Dyreson, D.A. (1976) "Crime Seen Through A Cone of Resolution," Amer. Behavioral Scientist, 20:261-274. Brantingham, P.J. and Faust, F.L. (1976) "A Conceptual Model of Crime Prevention," Crime and Deliquency, 22:284-296. Brantingham, P.L. and Brantingham, P.J. (1977) "Housing Patterns and Burglary in a Medium-Sized American City, " pp.63-74 in J.F. Scott and S. Dinitz (eds.) Criminal Justice Planning. (New York: Praeger). Brantingham, P.J. and Brantingham, P.L. (1978) "A Theoretical Model of Crime Site Selection, pp.105-18 in M. Krohn and R.L. Akers (eds.). Crime, Law, and Sanctions. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications). Brantingham, P.L. and Brantingham, P.J. (1980) "Crime, Occupation, and Economic Specialization: A Consideration of Inter-Metropolitan Patterns," pp. 93-108 in D.E. Georges-Abeyie and K.D. Harries (eds.) /Crime: A Spatial Perspective. (New York: Columbia Univ. Press). ----. (1981) "Introduction: The Dimensions of Crime," pp.7-27 and "Notes on the Geometry of Crime," pp.27-54 in Brantingham, P.J. and Brantingham, P.L. (eds.). Environmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications). Brantingham, P.J. and Jeffery, C.R. (1981) "Afterword: Crime, Space, and Criminological Theory," pp.227-238 in Brantingham, P.J. and Brantingham, P.L. (eds.). Environmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications).

	Brantingham, P.J. and Brantingham, P.L. (1984) Patterns in Crime. (New York: MacMillan Pub. Co.).
	Burgess, E.W. (1916) "Juvenile Delinquency in a Small City," J. of Amer. Institute of Criminal Law and Criminology, 6:724-728.
	(1925) "The growth of the city," pp.47-62 and "Can Neighborhood Work Have A Scientific Basis?" pp.142-155 in R.E. Park, E.W. Burgess, and R.D. Mackenzie (eds.). <u>The City</u> . (Chicago: Univ. of Chicago Press).
	Capone, D.L. and Nichols, W.W. Jr. (1976) "Urban Structure and Criminal Mobility," Amer. Beh. Scientist, 20:199-214.
	Chalmers, A.F. (1976) What is this thing called Science. (St. Lucia, Queensland: Univ. of Queensland Press).
	Chapin, F.S. (1974) Human Activity Patterns In The City. Toronto: John Wiley & Sons.
	and Brent, R.K. (1969) "Human Activity Systems in the Metropolitan United States," Environment and Behavior, 1:107-130.
	Clarke, R.V.G. (1978) Tackling Vandalism. (London: HMSO, Home Office Research Study No. 47).
	(1980) "'Situational' Crime Prevention: Theory and Practice," Brit. J. of Criminology, 20:136-147.
	and Mayhew, P. (1980) Designing Out Crime. (London: Her Majesty's Stationery Office).
	Cohen, L.E. and Felson, M. (1979) "Social Change and Crime Rate Trends: A Routine Activity Approach," <u>American Sociological Review</u> , 44:588-608.
	Conklin, J.E. (1975) The Imapact of Crime. (New York: MacMillan Pub. Co., Inc.).

Duffala, D.C. (1976) "Convenience Stores, Armed Robbery, and Physical Environmental Features," Amer. Behavioral Scientist, 20:227-246. Dyos, H.J. (1957) "Urban Transformátion: A Note on the Objects of Street Improvements in Regency and Early Victorian London." International Review of Social History, 2:259-265. Empey, L.T. (1974) "Crime Prenvention: The Fugitive Utopia," pp.1095-1123 in D. Glaser (ed.). Handbook of Criminology. Ferri, E. (1896) Criminal Sociology. (New York: Appleton). ---. (1968) The Positive School of Criminology: Three Lectures by Enrico Ferri, edited by S.E. Grupp, (Univ. of Pittsburgy Press). Finestone, H. (1976) "The Delinquent and Society: The Shaw and McKay Tradition," in J.F. Short, Jr. (ed.). Delinquency, Crime and Society. (Chicago: Univ. Press). Frisbie, D.W. et àl. (1977) Crime in Minneapolis: Proposals for Prevention. (St. Paul: Govenor's Commission on Crime Prevention and Control). Gardiner, R.A. (1978) Design For Safe Neighborhoords. (Washington: National Institute of Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice, LEAA). Gibbons, D.C. (1971) "Observations on the study of crime causation," Amer. J. of Sociology, 77:262-278. Gladstone, F.J. (1980) Co-ordinating Crime Prevention Efforts. (London: HMSO, Home Office Research Study No. 62). Glvde, J. (1856) "Localities of Crime in Sulfolk," J. of the Statistical Society of London, 19:102-106. Greenberg, David F. (1979) Mathematical Criminology. (New Brunswick, New Jersey: Rutgers University Press).

Haggett, P. (1965) Locational Analysis in Human Geography. (London: Edward Arnold). Harries, K.D. (1971) "The Geography of American Crime, 1968," J. of Geography, 70:204-213.  $\sim$ ----. (1974) The Geography of Crime and Justice. (New York: McGraw-Hill). ----. (1976)"Cities and Crime: A Geographic Model," Criminology, 14:369-386. ----- and Georges-Abevie, D.E. (1980) Crime: A Spatial Perspective. (New York: Columbia Univ. Press). ----. (1981) "Alternative Denominators in Conventional Crime Rates," pp.147-167 in P.J. Brantingham and P.L. Brantingham (eds.). Environmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications). Hillier, B. (1973) Th defensible space," RIBA Journal, November:539-544. Hirschi, T. and Selvin, H.C. (1973) Principles of Survey Analysis. (New York: The Free Press). Hood, Roger and Sparks, Richard (1974) Key Issues in Criminology. (Toronto: McGraw-Hill Book Company). Horton, F.E. and Reynolds, D.R. (1971) "Effects of the Urban Spatial Structure on Individual Behavior," Economic Geography, 47:36-48. Hunter, J. (1978) "Defensible Space in Practice," The Architects Journal, 11:675-677. Jacobs, J. (1961) The Death and Life of Great American Cities. (New York: Random House). Jeffery, C.R. (1969) "Crime Prevention and Control Through Environmental Engineering, "Criminologica, 7:35-58.

173

í

----. (1973) "The Historical Development of Criminology," in H. Mannheim (ed.). Pioneers in Criminology. (Montclair: Patterson Smith Pub. Co.J. -----. (1971, 1st ed.; 1977, 2nd ed.) Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design. (Beverly Hills: Sage Pub.). Kaplan, S. (1973) "Review of Defensible Space," Architectural Forum, May:8. Kerlinger, F.N. (1973) Foundations of Behavioral Research. (New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc. J. Lev, D. (1974) "The spatial ecology of stripped cars," Environment and Behavior, 6:53-68. Lind, A.W. (1930) "Some Ecological Patterns of Community Disorganization in Honolulu," Amer. J. of Sociology, 36:206-220. Lottier, S. (1938) "Distribution of Criminal Offenses in Metropolitan Regions," J. of Crim. Law and Criminology, 29:37-50. Lowe, J.C. and Moryadas, S. (1975) The Geography of Movement. (Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company). Luedtke, G. et al. (1970) Crime and the Physical City: Neighborhood Design Techniques for Crime Reduction. (Springfield, Va.: National Technical Information Service). Lynch, K. (1960) 2.7 The Image of the City. (Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press). Mack, J. (1964). "Full-time miscreants: Delinguent Neighborhoods and Criminal Networks," Brit. J. of Sociology, 15:38-53. Makres, Carl (1980) "A Geographically Based Crime Problem Identification System - Its Application to the Analysis and Prevention of Crime," pp.264-275 in K.D. Harries and D.E. Georges-Abeyie (eds.). Crime: A Spatial Perspective. (New York: Columbia Univ. Press).

Mark, Vernon and Irvin, Frank (1970) Violence and the Brain. (New York: Harper & Row). Mawby, R.I. (1977) "Defensible Space: A theoretical and empirical appraisal," Urban Studies/, 14:169-179. ---. (1981) "Police Practices and Crime Rates: A Case Study of a British City," pp.135-147 in P.J. Brantingham and P.L. Brantingham (eds.). Environmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications). Mayhew, P. (1979b) "Defensible Space: The Current Status of Crime Prevention Theory," Howards J. of Penology and Crime Prevention, 18:150-159. ----. (1981) "Crime in Public View: Surveillance and Crime Prevention," pp.119-135 in P.J. Brantingham and P.L. Brantingham (eds.). Environmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications). ----, P., Clarke R.V.G., Sturman, A., and Hough, J.M. (1976) Crime as Opportunity. (London: HMSO, Home Office Research Study No. 341. ----- (1979a) Crime in Public View. /London: HMSO, Home Office Research Study No. 49). Merton, R. (1949) Social Theory and Social Structure. (New York: Free Press). Molumby, T. (1976) "Patterns of Crime in a University Housing Project," Amer. Behavioral Scientist, 20:247-259. Moore, G.T. and Golledge, R.G. (eds.). (1976) Environmental Knowing. (Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania: Dowden, Hutchinson, and Ross, Inc.). Morris, T. (1957) The Criminal Area: A Study in Social Ecology. (New York: Humanities Press).

-----. (1962)

"A Critique of Area Studies," pp.191-199 in M.E. Wolfgang, L. Savitz and N. Johnston (eds.). The Sociology of Crime and Delinquency. (New York: John Wiley and Sons).

Morrison, Denton E. and Henkel, Ramon E. (1970) <u>The Significance Test Controversy</u>. (Chicago: Aldine <u>Publishing Company</u>).

Nettler, G. (1974, 2 ed. 1978) Explaining Crime. (Toronto: McGraw-Hill Book Company). Newlands, Ma'colm J.M. (1983) An Analysis of Burglary Offense Patterns in a Vancouver Neighbourhood. (Unpublished Manuscript. Honours Thesis: Criminology Department, S.F.U.).

Newman, O. (1972) <u>Defensible Space: Crime Prevention Through Urban Design.</u> (New York: MacMillan Pub. Co. Ltd.).

-----. (1980) Community of Interest. (New York: Anchor Press).

Ohlin, L.E. (1970)

A Situational Approach to Delinquency Prevention. (Youth Development and Delinquency Prevention Administration. U.S. Department of Health,)Education and Welfare).

Orleans, P. and Schmidt, S. (1972)

 "Mapping the City: Environmental Cognition of Urban Residents," in W.J. Mitchell (ed.). Environmental Design
Research and Practice. (Los Angeles: Univ. of California).

Orleans, P. (1973)

"Differtial Cognition of Urban Residents: Effects of Social Scales on Mapping," pp.115-30 in R.M. Downs and D. Stea (eds.). Image and Environment. (Chicago: Aldine).

Pablant, P. and Baxter, J.C. (1975) "Environmental Correlates of School Vandalism," J. of Amer. Institute of Planners, 41:270-279.

Popper, K. (1968) The Logic of Scientific Discovery. (London: Hutchinson).

Porteous, J.D. (1973)

"The Burnside Teengage Gang: Territorality, Social Space, and Community Planning," in C.N. Forward (ed.). Residential and Néighbourhood Studies in Victoria. (Victoria, B.C.: Western Geographic Series 5). ----.(1977)

Environment and Behavior: Planning and Everyday Urban Life. (Reading, Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley).

Pyle, G.F. (1974)

The Spatial Dynamics of Crime. (Chicago: Univ. of Chicago, Department of Geography, Research Paper No. 159).

----- (1976)

"Spatial and Temporal Aspects of Crime in Clevland Ohio," Amer. Behavioral Scientist, 20:175-198.

Reckless, Walter C. (1973). The Crime Problem. (New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts).

Rengert, G.F. (1972)

Spatial Aspects of Criminal Behavior: A Suggested Approach. (Paper read at East Lakes Division, Association of American Georgraphers (annual meetings). Department of Geography: Temple Univ.).

----- (1975)

"Some Effects of Being Female on Criminal Spatial Behavior," The Pennsylvania Geographer, 13(2):10-18.

"Spatial Aspects of Criminal Behavior," pp.47-57 in D.E. George-Abeyie and K.D. Harries (eds.). Crime: A Spatial Perspective. (New York: Columbia Univ. Press).

----- (1981)

"A Critique of an Opportunity Structure Model," pp.199-210 in P.J. Brantingham and P.L. Brantingham (eds.). Environmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications).

Reppetto, T.A. (1974)

Residential Crime. (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Ballinger).

-----. (1976)

"Crime Prevention Through Environmental Policy," <u>Amer.</u> Behavioral Scientist, 20(2):275-288.

Rhodes, W.M.; Conly, C. and Schachter, C. (1980)

"The Criminal Commute: A Study of the Geography of Crime and Justice in the District of Columbia," (Unpublished paper. Project funded by the Ford Foundation and the District of Columbia Office of Criminal Justice Plans and Analysis). Shortened version appears in P.J. Brantingham and P.L. Brantingham (eds.). Environmental Criminology. (Beverly Hills: Sage Publications). Robinson, W.S. (1950)

"Ecological Correlations and the Behavior of Individuals," Amer. Soc. Review, 15:351-356.

Sanders, R.A. (1980)

"Theory and Practice in Urban Police Responses," pp.276-288 in K.D. Harries and D.E. Georges-Abeyie (eds.). Crime: A Spatial Perspective. (New York: Columbia Univ. Press).

Scarr, H.A. (1973)

Patterns of Buglary. (Washington, D.C.: National Institute of Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice).

Schmid, C.F. (1960a)

"Urban Crime Areas, Part I," Amer. Soc. Review, 25:527-543.

----. (1960b) ------

"Urban Crime Afeas, Part II," Amer. Soc. Review, 25:655-678.

Sellitz, C.; Wrightsman, L.S.; and Cook, S.W. (1976) <u>Research Methods In Social Relations</u>. (Toronto: Holt, <u>Rinehart and Winston</u>).

Shaw, C.R. and McKay, H.D. (1969) Juvenile Delinquency and Urban Areas. (Revised Edition, Chicago: Univ. Press).

Smith, T.S. (1976) "Inverse Distance Variations for the Flow of Crime in Urban Areas," Social Forces, 54(4):802-815.

Schneider, Anne L. (1976)

"Victimization Surveys and Criminal Justice System Evaluation," pp.135-150 in Wesley G. Skogan (ed.). Sample Survey of the Victims of Crime. (Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Pub. Co.).

Sommer, R. (1974) "Book Review of 'Defensible Space'," <u>Urban</u> Studies, 11:97-99.

Stoks, Francis Gerald (1982)

Towards A Methodology For Environmentally Assessing Urban, Public Spaces For Danger Of Violent Crime - Especially Rape. (Dissertation, Univ. of Washington).

Sykes, G. and Matza, D. (1957)

"Techniques of Neutralization: A Theory of Delinquency," Amer. Soc. Review, 22:664-670.

Tobias, J.J. (1972) Urban Crime in Victorian England. (New York: Schocken) Toch, H. (1980)

"Foreword," pp.xi-xii in D.E. George-Abeyie and K.D. Harries (eds.). Crime: A Spatial Perspective. (New York: Columbia Univ. Press).

Turner, S. (1969a)

"Delinquency and Distance," in M.E. Wolfgang and T. Sellin (eds.). Delinquency: Selected Studies. (New York: Wiley).

----. (1969b)

"The Ecology of Delinquency," in M.E. Wolfgang and T. Sellin (eds.). Delinquency: Selected Studies. (New York: Wiley).

Valenstein, Elliot S. (1973) Brain Control: (Toronto: John Wiley & Sons).

Wallis, C.P. and Maliphant, R. (1967) "Delinquent Areas in the County of London: Ecological Factors," Brit. J. of Criminology, 7:250-284.

White, R.C. (1932)

"The Relation of Felonïes to Evnironmental Factors in Indianapolis," Social Forces, 10:498-509.

Wilcox, S. (1973)

<u>، اِنَ ا</u>

The Geography of Robbery. (Davis, California: The Centre of Administration of Criminal Justice, Univ. of California).

Zeisel, John (1975) Sociology and Architectural Design. (New York: Russel Sage).